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Minutes:

Senator Judy Lee, Chairperson of the Senate Human Services Committee brought the
committee to order.

Attendance was taken indicating all members of the committee present.

Senator Lee opened the hearing on SB 2181 relating to consent for certain health care
services provided to minors.

Senator Karen Krebsbhach from District 40, prime sponsor of SB 2181 introduced the bill (See
attachment #1.)

Bruce Levi representing the North Dakota Medical Association testified in support of SB 2181
(See attachment # 2). He further added that SB 2181 does follow the ethics of medical
practice (See the ethical opinion of AMA Code of Medical Ethics included in Attachment # 2.)
He also presented a brief review of each subsection of the bill (also included with

attachment # 2.)

Senator Dick Dever stated the bill refers to cases when a minor can consent to services if the
parents of the minor are not acting in the best interest of the minor. He then asked if the minor

is not doing what is in its own best interest can a parent legally force the minor to do what is

best.
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Bruce Levi responded that the bill is designed not only for those instances when the parents
are not acting in the best interest of the child, but for the larger part is when minors ask for
confidential services. The bill sets up the legal environment especially for the medical
personnel that are now subject to law that says they cannot provide services without the
consent of parents.
Dr. Shari Orser, obstetrician-gynecologist testified in support of SB 2181 on her own behalf
(See attachment # 3.)
Senator Dever questioned how often minors are left on their own to make medical decisions.
Dr. Orser answered that it is not very often but there are circumstances where a minor is in
labor and there is no parent available. Or she has had a pregnant teenager come to her office
for care and because of the law she had to refuse her services and unfortunately never saw
her again. She further stated she would like to prevent those kinds of situations.
Senator Robert Erbele asked how the paperwork would be handled as far as insurance and
other documentation if the bill is passed into law.
Bruce Levi answered the bill does not create a perfect situation as there are issues of
disclosure of information and situations will probably be handled on a case by case basis.
Senator Lee asked Rod St.Aubyn of Blue Cross/Blue Shield, if a minor can on her own apply
for a “CHIP” if she is pregnant.
Rod St.Aubyn responded he was not sure about a “CHIP”, but there are student plans that can
be applied for. BCBS has adopted a policy where members would receive services in every
state under a parent’s plan. The law allows states to be more strident than a standard HIPAA
policy. BCBS policy allows children 12 years and up with a separate EOB (Explanation of

Benefits) and have many complaints from parents. There is a consent authorization form that

minors can sign that allows parents access to that information.
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. Kathy Perkerewicz a certified obstetrician-gynecologist testified in support of SB 2181 on her
| own behalf (See attachment # 4).

Senator Joan Heckaman asked if 2 minor seeks prenatal care does the bill extend to include
social work services.
Kathy Perkerewicz confirmed the bill discusses mental health services to include services of a
social worker.
Senator Lee asked for further supporting testimony and hearing none asked for opposing
testimony and neutral testimony of SB 2181. She further asked the committee if they had any
questions of Mr. Mullen of the Attorney General's office. Hearing none closed the hearing on

SB 2181.

. Senator Heckaman requested background information on the discussion held in the House
] from two years ago when a similar bill was killed.
Senator l_ee recalled that there was one person who felt parents should be included from the
beginning.
Discussion was held regarding the history of the bill in the last session.
Bruce Levi added that the difference between the two bills was that last session the senate bill
included an immunity clause and contained a section that created confusion relating to
financial responsibility. This bill recognizes the ethical obligation which was not in the last
session’s bill.
Senator Dever added that 32 % of births in North Dakota in 2005 were out of wedlock births
and 25 % or 600 of those were teens. (See attachment # §)

Senator John Warner added that a premature or low birth weight of less than 5 pounds has a

. hospital cost of approximately $37,000.00 plus the additional cost of the hospital stay.
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Senator Lee added there is a wide range of professionals and interest groups that support SB
2181 because they realize the benefits for the young mother and the baby. Being there is no
opposition to the bill would also indicate its importance.

Senator Dever made a motion for a Do Pass of SB 2181.

Senator Warner seconded the motion.

Roll call vote 6-0-0. Passed.

Senator Warner will carry SB 2181.
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Minutes:

Chairman Price: We will open the hearing on SB 2181.

Senator Karen Krebsbach, with District 40 Minot, ND: See attached testimony.

Senator Dick Dever, District 32, Bismarck, ND: See attached testimony.

Representative Kathy Hawken, District 46: | was pleased when asked to be a part of this
bill. It is so very important that our young women have prenatal care. My daughter would not
have had her twins had it not been for prenatal care. There are young women who are scared
and who do not know what to do. We have many times talked about how important the life of a
baby is. We want them to be born alive and born healthy. This is not a bill to get between
children and parents. It has nothing to do with terminating pregnancies, but it has everything
to do with healthy babies. |

Dr, Jerry Obritsch, practicing OBGYN at Mid Dakota Clinic Center for Women: | have
been doing this for the past 15 years. This is a very important bill. This bill is very important
for me as a practicing OBGYN, because it effects what | do in my carrier. While having a
young woman laboring the discussion of control of pain came up. Unfortunately her Mom
made the statement that she was unable to consent to an epidural because she wanted her

daughter to feel the pain of what it is like to do something that was wrong in her opinion. This
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was very discouraging to me as a practicing OBGYN, because | know what an epidural can do
to relieve pain in labor. This is one of the most painful situations in medicine the other having
kidney stones pass. Another patient | had in Standing Rock, she was 15 years old living at
home with her Mom. While laboring her Mom went back home to gather things as they left
with nothing. In the course of her being away the patient became very active in labor and
asked for pain relief. We should have obtained a consent from her Mom. | knew the Mom
and if she had been there | would have easily obtained the consent for the epidural. She said
you know | would have consented to it. | said | could not because of the way the laws are.
The concerns with this bill are about is taking away parental right and consent of a minor
daughter. | share those concerns; | am the Father of 4 children. | believe that 99% of parents
care for their daughters and want the best outcome for them regarding a healthy pregnancy,
and a healthy baby. We work with them to try and obtain consent of their parents. However
there is some times this is not the case, and our hands become tied as practicing obstetrician.
Representative Damschen: The example you shared about the pain medication, does this
bill allow the physician to administer medication with out the consent of the parent, even when
the parent was informed? Are you aware of documentation of young Mothers to be not getting
prenatal care?

Dr. Obritsch: It would allow us to gain the consent to do so. | have no documentation of how
many Mothers who are minors.

Chairman Price: When the Mother returned home to pick up belongings what would have
happened if the baby héd gone into distress? In an emergency situation are you able to act?
Dr. Obritsch: Yes, in an emergency we can do what Is needed to do. That is not part of this

bill it goes beyond that. When ever a patient sees a physician, we would have a patient

physician relationship. In essence it becomes a contract, a bonding time.
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Shari Orser, obstetrician-gynecologist of Medcenter One Health Systems: See attached
testimony, and attached statistics. In other situations like treatment for STD, the minor ¢an
make an agreement with the business office to pay for the care herself. BC will tell you they
sent the bill to the person who received the treatment, so parents don't receive the explanation
of benefit. | also have articles that were published last year in contemporary OBGYN that talks
about adolescent patients and confidentiality, and how to take care of these people.
Chairman Price: In your practice when you have a young woman come to you are you able
to do anything, as far as determining a pregnancy or suggesting vitamins. |

Dr Orser: No, at this point in time wé are not. | have had to turn young women away
because they came in and had no consent of a parent. If the bill were to pass we would be
able to do lab work, testing for STD's and provide her with a prescription for prenatal vitamins,
or samples. We would talk with them and try to encourage them to talk with their parents to
get them involved.

Bruce Levi, executive director of ND Medical Association: See attached testimony, and
medical ethics, Minnesota stats, and Montana code annotated.

Representative Damschen: Once a minor as for example she’s responsible for making
decisions concerning medication. Is it consistent to take that right away from an adult parent?
Is it consistent than for us to pass legislation that takes that authority away from and adult
parent? From testimony we are not only taking the right of the parent informed away, we
would also take away the authority of the decision making for the other parent. We are
granting that authority to the physician. |1 am uncomfortable witﬁ the things in this bill

Mr. Levi: The waﬂ( the frame work is set up in the law now what you say is true. A minor

parent does have a new born child; they can make these decisions for the new born child. |

think that is the point of the bill. There are situations to protect the unborn child. | think the
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health of the unborn child and the minor mother becomes a balance with the health care if
provided. | think the bill does deal with different kinds of situations. The bill is to protect the
pregnant minor , who needs particular care .

Represenatative Conrad: A young woman has a child and has to make adult decisions about
that child, than she needs to be treated a s an adult as she prepares to give birth to that child.
Mr. Levi: Our own abortion control act involves the maturity. The minor need all the
information.

Representative Porter: if we are saying that the minor should be able to make this decision
and have these treatments. Why don’t we than relieve the parents of the financial
responsibility at the same time? Why don't we put it all on the patient?

Mr. Levi: | believe last session we tried to include some language to deal with the financial
situation. What we did this session is not address the financial implication other than suggest
to provide that the minor could contract for that. That is a respect for the dialog of respect for
the need for confidentiality. The bill does not address specifically other than allowing the
minor to enter into some sort of special relationship and work out the details with how the care
will be paid. There are statutes in ND dealing with minors and disaffirming contracts.

Rep. Porter: So in essence we are taking away the parents rights to be involved, but not thir
right to pay the bill? If the concern is to allow physicians to get the first or a couple pre natal
visit going and have the discussion, getting the right diet and vitamins and risk behaviors
associated with the patient. Why don’t we limit than, to the first visit?

Mr. Levi: | think it would depend on the specific situation. Every situation is different. The
minor may not yet be ready to involve the parents at any particular stage during the
preganancy even beyond the first12 weeks. | think it is more than the first initial visit. The

prenatal care is a process through out the pregnancy, and that is important.
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Audrey Cleary: | am here in support of the bill. See attached testimony. Not all children have
the perfect relationship with their children. | also would like to see the Doctors not charge for
the first visit.

Chairman Price: We just passed a bill for funds for alternatives to abortion to organizations
around the state. Are you fearful that they could loose their opportunity to council expectant
mothers on alternatives to abortion?

Ms. Cleary: Yes, we also encourage them to tell their parents. Sometimes our volunteers will
go with them.

Tom Freier. Representing the ND Family Alliance: See attached testimony. | amin
opposition to SB 2181.

Representative Conrad: if we were to go with this and some of the testimony young women
never had prenatal care and came in only for the delivery. Should we than prosecute those
parents who are neglect to the medical care of their children? Prenatal care is not provided to
these young women and the parents are responsible and it is not happening so who? We
don’t want to give it to the young women.

Mr. Freier: | am not an attorney and If don't know if to that extent that could be done. | can
tell you Family Alliance | am not in favor of not having prenatal care | believe we are reaching
to the most extreme cases and looking at it other than the immediate issue is. This does not
happen in every pregnancy.

Representative Kaldor: Assuming you would want every pregnancy carried to term if
possible. Wouldn't you want minors in particular who are pregnant to have prenatal care as
early as possible? Isn't it in keeping with your organizations philosophy that every child is

important and in those unfortunate circumstances as you even described in you t testimony,
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not every family is perfect. In those unfortunate circumstances isn't it worth it to do a little
more than is necessary to insure protection of that baby?

Mr. Freier: Yes, obviously as | said in this room the initial and on going prenatal care shouid
be available for everyone that becomes pregnant. Back to the bill is one issue and a parental
issue. We do want to extend that protection to everyone. | think we cannot remove parental.
Those individual's you more than likely are referencing are ones that parental (could not
understand).

Rep. Kaldor: There are a couple things in the bill that relate to this issue that actually the
physician is supposed to encourage the child. This is part of that process, a minor that
becomes pregnant probably not very likely to tell her parents. They are probably not the first
people they are going to tell, even in good families. Wouldn't it be more beneficial to
encourage that process rather than force it?

Mr Freier: Just by encouraging, | don’t know that, that is something that can’'t be done right
now. | would hope that the provider would encourage with out this bill.

Chairman Price: Dr. Orser just said they can not treat patients. They can not see her about
the pregnancy with out permission. So how can they encourage? :

Mr. Freier: The fact is a matter of contention. Some sort of narrowly crafted legislation that
deals with that point alone as opposed to a draft of this bill that goes all the way to the removal
of the parental involvement.

Representative Potter: In your testimony you said it removes the parent right and obligation
in this instance. | would like to know what exactly you think is the parent obligation?

Mr Freier: Our duties and obligations are very important all the way from when we take care
of that young person to education guidance direction all the way through their lives. The family

unit is the unit we all come back to. To remove one part that is very important as this is during
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. a time of crises is really saying the other things are okay and important , but this one you don't
have to confide in me, we don't have to be involved. We are responsible for our children.
Rep. Potter: Since it is part of your testimony, whether it is philosophical, | was thinking that
you were talking for the family alliance and | heard you say the obligation is nurturing and
financial. Those were the two | heard.

Mr. Freier: | don't know that | could give you a whole listing on what the parent’s duties to
raise their kids and educate them, and be consistent with them.

Representative Schneider: In the case of incest resulting in preganancy. Does the family
alliance still support parental consent? |If you wanted to let the world know it was your father or
grandfather or to put them in jail you could do that. | don’t think that is reality in life. Some
times you want to put things behind you

. Mr. Freier: Family alliance has always been for life, all life not matter the situation or
occurrences. | think the status of the parent'should still be respected. | believe we have
services available through out our human services division and social services. | know there
would be an opportunity here to prevail themselves to a service. We would come back to the
alliance to keep parents involved.

Chairman Pride: The over all good in this bill the unborn child. We have a third of the babies
born on Medicaid, we are asked to support the children that are born with problems because
they didn’t get prenatal care, a drug abuse Mom, and all sorts of other things. Granted some
are genetic. We are 28" in the nation for infant mortality. We have high record of low birth
with babies. A lot of it goes back to the prenatal care. Our fear is for the unborn child. As a
parent or grandparent would | rather know y grandchild is going to be born heaithy or find out

. two months later that | am going to be a grandma? This is about the unborn child.
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Mr. Freier: This is not an easy question or easy situation. Maybe it is more so educational. |
think what | heard you say was the prenatal care for that unborn and if in fact for the individuals
that are not aware of what can transpire.
Rep. Damschen: | don't think there is a debate here about prenatal care, but however two
examples referred to in previous testimony that Representative Kaldor referred to. | don't
remember testimony there were actual complications resulting from the lack of prenatal care.
Back to Rep. Conrad's question about being responsible, could the Dr. be prosecuted or the
parents. Who is responsible?
Mr. Heier: Not being an attorney again, | don’t know.
Rep. Porter: On page 2 of the bill, we really have not gotten into the discussion on some of
the things that are also allowed under the bill. Sub section b concerns me. | don’t know if we
have a definition of prolonged hospitalization, but if some ones child needs to be hospitalized
than by passing this law it can happen with out the notification of parents. The child could be
gone for three days. The parent would have no idea where the child id and still be perfectly
legal under this bill. 1 am not sure what is meant by major, and | know times have changed
- through medical care and there is a lot of invasive procedures that are done on an out patient
basis. A child could have a surgical procedure done and the parents never notified. Are those
concerns valid? The examples used could go beyond prenatal care once again.
Mr. Heier: You are correct in stating that the definition of what has occurred with all of
a,b,and ¢ is rather vague. We would not be certain what may occur, and once again that does
remove the ability of that parent.
Janne Myrdal, representing Women for America of ND: See attached testimony: This is a
detersive bill; | think it could be written better. We would support amendment s to clarify the

bill. We have 1046 members, and we are about 26 years old.
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Representative Dan Ruby, District 38: | felt compelled to come and testify in opposition. As
a parent of 10 children | could have a PHD in parenthood, which does not make a perfect
parent. | have dealt with this as a young man | understand the full emotions. it was a life
changing time in my life. My oldest daughter has come to me with the same situation. She is
older than | was, so both end of the spectrum. One who has been through it and one as a
parent. For two sessions at least now we are dealing with this mother who denied the
epidural. The parent rights are already quite substantial under the HIPPA laws. Either fix the
bill or can it.

Bill Schuch, see attached testimony and power structure of the bill, and the second attached
parental disempowerment in ND: This is not a medical matter it is a family crises. There is too
much going on behind parents back. The problem with this is ir is a broadly framed bill. The
parents have a right to know. They can not exercise there responsibilities if they don’t know.
There needs to be another approach to this.

Representative Potter: | agree with most everything you say. The parents right to guide, and
nurture, and their duty. In today’s world there are so many parents that aren’t. We read about
it and see it on TV daily. | am not quite sure what we do with families that are not there for
their kids.

Mr. Schuch: Yes, there are a lot of cases of abuse, and neglect, and a parent does not have
that right. It is not nearly as common as you get the idea from the news. The vast majorities
of the parents care, and want to be involved, and be in charge of their children.
Representative Jim Kasper: District 46 Fargo: | have the following observation that | would
ask the committee to consider. Line 18 this bill is putting those people in place of the parent.
Some one is going to help that minor make a decision, but this bill is saying thé physician or

health care providers is in a better position than the parent. In most cases the parent loves the
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.' child, and not aware of any problems. Who is liable if that physician or health care provider
gives that young minor the wrong advice? Whether it is to carry the child, abort the child, or
adopt the child. It is the responsibility of the parent to take care of that child. Observe the word
minor. The definition of minor is someone who is young, immature in the perspective of
making difficult decisions. This is a big deal; it is probably one of the biggest in a minor’s life.
Our family structure is what makes our nation great. Every bad thing we hear in the news or
news paper, there is hundreds of good things happening which we never hear about.

Michel Hove: | am a parent. He talks about medical costs in another state about his son
related to lines 13, 14, and 19 about parent becoming aware.
Becky Ness , health care professional: See attached testimony.

Mike Motschenbacher, | am here as a concerned parent. See attached testimony.

. Vice Chair Pietsch: We will close the hearing on SB 2181



2007 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES

Bill/Resolution No. SB 2181
House Human Services Committee
[] Check here for Conference Committee
Hearing Date: March 19, 2007

Recorder Job Number; 5267

N 2
Committee Clerk Signature L M,QQ«_? Ww cé,
J g -

Minutes:

Chairman Price: Take out SB 2181 for discussion.

Representative Porter: Brings proposed amendments. See attached. | took the concerns
from the a\hearing and | worked with Mr. Levi from the Medical Association. We cam up with
this amendment that was a narrower scope of what would be allowed. It still doesn’'t go as far
as the ND Family Alliance would like to see it. The suggestion to me was a specific number of
prenatal visits, which was one. The rest they were okay with. They are opposed to this
amendment without a limiting factor on prenatal care.

Representative Potter asks for him to explain line 9 and what a condition means.

Bruce Levi, with Medical Association: We did assist in developing the recommendations.
The intent behind the amendments was to focus on those particular situations that were used
as examples in presentations. If a minor comes in at the point of labor and delivery, you are
probably looking at an emergency situation at that point, and there is another law that applies

to minor consent for emergency care. 14-10-17 that deals with emergency care for all

situations involved in a minor.
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‘ . Representative Porter: Some felt the pain relief didn't go far enough, and it should be spelled
} out. Pain relief is also healing relief. If things were to effect the unborn child it would go under
the emergency code.
Representative Conrad asks Mr. Levi to explain line 3.

Chairman Price: | will let you review the amendment and we will take action later.
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Chairman Price asked the committee to continue the discussion on SB 2181.

Representative Porter went over the proposed amendments that are attached. Based on the

discussions yesterday, as wé looked this over from .0103 to this version (.0105) on these
. amendments. See attached proposed amendments marked as Item #1. | will tell you upfront

that it must be really good amendment because neither side really likes it very well. | know

that Representative Damschen has another amendment and we can discuss this after he has

presented his amendment.

Representative Conrad asked why it was 2 prenatal visits instead of 3.

Representative Porter said the third visit takes place in weeks 16 to 18. It was looked at that

the patient would already be showing so the parental notification on this is up for grabs. The

discussion was of course from the medical association having an unlimited to the family

alliance side wanting just one so we picked two as the starting point for discussion. There was

a sheet provided by Mr. Levi. See attached sheet marked as Iltem #2. This is an event

structure for routine prenatal care. The first four visits are a month apart.

Representative Conrad asked if he had considered number 5 or 6 or the issues there.

. Representative Porter said no.
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Representative Conrad said if we want to help these young women and girls then we want
this to be relevant to the experience in their lives. This isn’t like what you would do with cows
or something.

Representative Kaldor said his question was regarding the same issue. If the patient comes
for a screening or comes in earlier than that period of time, what about a circumstance where
they come in after week one or within a week after exception. What would visit 2 consist of? |
am assuming that would be visit one.

Representative Porter said if that would happen, that would be considered visit one. The
chances of that happening within 7 days of fertilization would probably be slim. If it did
happen, that would constitute visit one. Visit two would be between 10 and 12 weeks. Then
between 13 and 16 weeks in order to have visit 3, the parents would have to be infofmed.
Representative Kaldor asked if this was per pregnancy or per physician. They could go to
another doctor on the third visit.

Representative Porter said there is nothing in here as a tracking mechanism. The doctors
would have knowledge inside the group of doctors that the first two visits had already taken
place, but there is no tracking mechanism that wouldn’t send the patient across the street and
that physician may not have the knowledge that the first two visits took place. | don't know
how you would do that. The only thing that may happen would be if there were some risk
factors that were at the first initial visit of the first physician and asked for the medical records
and realized that they had seen another physician twice before. If everything was normal the
patient could certainly go the entire pregnancy by moving to another doctor every two visits.
Representative Conrad said if you look at visit 4 on this routine prenatal care, the family
issues are in visit 4. | think this would make more sense than saying 2 visits. | don't mind all

these amendments except for defining the numbers because | think that is irrelevant.
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Representative Hofstad said that he thought it was relative. We heard in testimony that the
main thing is getting the young women off on the right start and it is that initial that helps them
that their diet is correct, and their lifestyle is correct.

Representative Conrad said if you look at the list all of those issues are dealt with in different
visits. They do not do all these things in one visit.  If they were all handled in one visit, our
insurance wouldn’t pay for all the visits.

Representative Weisz said they don’t need their parents for medical care and there is no data
produced to show they are not getting care. They are not getting prenatal care because they
are afraid to tell their parents.

Chairman Price said she would play the devils advocate and say based on the number of
parents that take their kids for abortion, they are going to want to be informea as well so they
can get them to the clinic in the first trimester.

Representative Damschen presented his amendments. He said basically what this does is
that it says they can go to the first appointment and then the physician will notify the parents.
Representative Porter asked him to clarify that it was one prenatal care visit and whether the
patient comes back or not again there is a notification or upon the second visit there is a
notification.

Representative Damschen said he never looked at that from that perspective. He said he
would read it that they would have to inform the parents.

Representative Conrad said she would move the amendment made by Representative Porter
with the change from 2 visits to 4 prenatal visits.

Representative Kaldor seconded the motion.

Representative Uglem said his understanding of this is that the first appointment determines

the pregnancy. There is no counseling and the child is in shock and worried. By the second
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appointment she is coming to her senses and at that point the doctor can get through to her in
advising her about changing her lifestyle like no smoking, no drugs, or no drinking and
encourage her to contact her parents. There we have the contact and the counseling with two
appointments and that would be a good compromise in my opinion between no appointments
and opening it wide open.

Representative Porter said he would hope they would resist the motion and go back to the
original intent of the amendment with 2 appointments. If there is a need for further change of
the number that it can be done after the rest of the amendment is adopted.

Representative Conrad said she thought the outline looks pretty thorough to her. She
wanted to be sure that the conversation happens. It may be that she is not able to listen and
process. | would like the doctor to have the chance for her to come back and to have the time
and it looks like this is what they consider to be the steps. They are not talking about classes
or family until the 4™ routine situation. | would like to give these young girls a chance to be
prepared for their parent’s reaction to this.

Representative Damschen said another concern is even after the first visit and the girl finds
out that she is pregnant, what will she do if her parents aren’t notified. What is her reaction
going to be and | am guessing it could be pretty extreme in some cases. | think we could be
endangering her life because of her reaction to the situation.

Representative Porter said this comment was in regards to the routine prenatal care list. He
said that using counseling and intervention section, in section 2 we are saying that the parents
need to be notified so waiting for visit 4 would not happen. It would happen on the first visit
according to the way this amendment fits into the bill.

Representative Kaldor said he has problems with any of the restrictions as to how many

visits before the consent is taken away from the minor. It is possible that the physician could
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convince the minor on the first visit that their parents need to know about this. If the child says
that her parents will kill her if they find out she is pregnant, | think it would be beneficial for the
doctor to have more time to investigate about the circumstances that child is in before they
deny that child the consent and basically compels them to tell their parents. Our goal here is
to make sure the unborn child is given the best chance. We could be ignoring what the
circumstances really are with their parents. That does bother me a great deal.

Chairman Price said he didn't think they would even get to the first visit under the current law
because the physician can’t even see them.

Representative Uglem said that he wanted to point out that the routine prenatal care list is a
normal planned pregnancy and things will be different with an unplanned pregnancy.
Representative Damschen said isn’t the bill for the doctor going to come to the parents
anyway and is that a good way for them to find out. Are we asking the medical providers to
withhold the billing? | guess we are thinking about young girls in a bad family situation but it
happens to young girls with good parents as well and those that have good relationships with
their parents. | think it may be harder for one of those girls to tell their parents because they
will know it will be hurtful to their parents. | think we can drive a wedge in that family
relationship when we allow this young girl to go to the doctor without her parents consent. |
think one time is certainly better than unrestricted visits.

Chairman Price asked if they were ready to vote on the amendment 0105 with the change
from 2 to 4 visits. A voice vote was taken and the motion failed.

Representative Porter made a motion for the amendment 0105 as printed.

Representative Schneider seconded the motion.
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Chairman Price asked for discussion. Hearing none, a voice vote was taken. It was too close
to call so the clerk called the roll. Let the record show 7 yes, 5 no with all present. The motion
carried.

Representative Uglem made a motion for a do pass as amended.

Representative Schneider seconded the motion.

Chairman Price asked for further discussion.

Representative Damschen said he had heard the question of the day on KFYR radio and it
was about this very bill. The overwhelming response what that they do not think it is a good
ideal for young girls to see their doctors without their parents consent. The amendment helps.
Representative Potter said whether it was the radio consensus or not, she was in favor of the
bill and | think it is best for the mother and it is definitely best for the unborn child to get in and
get medical help, physical and mental combined.

Representative Porter said in light of the testimony that they received in the hearings on this
bill, they did strike a balance for both the proponents and opponents of the measure. | don't
know if there is piece of legislation that wouid make both sides happy in this issue. In the
course of the action | think we have done our job in finding a balance in a very delicate
situation.

Representative Damschen said he wanted to remind them that the discussion was never
whether it was wise to get prenatal care. It is not his opinion either. My problem is
encouraging a division in the family.

Chairman Price asked for any other discussion. Hearing none, she asked the clerk to call the
roll on a do pass as amended on SB 2181. Let the record show 9 yes, 3 no with all present.

Representative Porter will carry this bill to the floor.
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There are several instances for which we as legislators have included language in the ND
Century Code authorizing minors to consent for health care services. Those services
include examination, care and treatment for alcoholism, drug abuse and sexually transmitted
diseases, as well as emergency medical services. These are situations in which the public
policy is to encourage young people to access medical services, rather than discourage
them from seeking the appropriate help they need.

Senate Bill 2181 would recognize that this same kind of situation arises often with respect to
a young person who finds herself pregnant — that as a matter of public policy we ought to
encourage that young person to seek appropriate prenatal care and other health care for her
and her unborn child. Physicians have an ethical duty to involve their minor patients in the
medical decision-making process to a degree commensurate with their abilities. At the same
time, if a minor patient asks for confidential services, physicians are ethically bound to
encourage the minor to involve their parents. More clarity is needed, however, on the legal
role of the physician in working with young people who seek confidential pregnancy-related
health care services for themselves and their unborn children.

I introduced Senate Bill 2181 at the request of a number of health care organizations seeking
this clarity, including the North Dakota Chapter of the American College of Obstetricians and
Gynecologists, the North Dakota OB-GYN Society, the North Dakota Medical Association,
and the North Dakota Healthcare Association representing hospitals. Senate Bill 2181 would
authorize a minor to consent for pregnancy-related care, but not abortion services which are
covered by another law, as well as identify situations in which the physician or other health
professional may inform the minor's parents or guardian. | introduced a similar bill last

session which passed the Senate almost unanimously but was defeated in the House.

Senate Bill 2181 strikes an appropriate balance — a balance that recognizes the need to
encourage young people to seek the medical care they need for themselves and an unbormn
child.

Thank you Senator Lee and members of the Committee. There are representatives of
various organizations here to describe more fully the rationale and scope of the bill, and

answer questions you have.
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Madam Chairman Lee and Committee members, I’'m Bruce Levi
representing the North Dakota Medical Association. NDMA is the
professional membership organization for North Dakota’s
physicians, residents and medical students. With me today is Dr.
Shari Orser. Dr. Orser has been actively involved in the North
Dakota OB-GYN Society and also serves as the President of the
North Dakota Medical Association. Dr. Orser will testify on her
own behalf as an obstetrician-gynecologist.

The North Dakota Medical Association strongly supports SB
2181. I was also asked to note that the state’s hospitals through the
North Dakota Healthcare Association also support SB 2181.

SB 2181 would follow the lead of at least thirty-four other states
in providing statutory authority for a physician or other health care
professional to rely on the consent of a minor for pregnancy-
related health care. SB 2181 is actually a hybrid of the Minnesota
and Montana statutes.

Under current North Dakota law, if a pregnant minor seeks
confidential prenatal care from a physician or other health
professional, that care may not be provided without the consent of
a parent or the guardian of the pregnant minor. Often, the pregnant
minor will not seek appropriate prenatal care for herself and her
unborn child if she has not yet told her parents about the
pregnancy, or there may even be situations in which the parents of
the pregnant minor know of the pregnancy but are not acting in the
best interest of the minor and her unborn child.

When confidentiality is a barrier to a pregnant minor seeking care,
the health consequences can be significant:

Pregnant teens are the least likely to of all age groups to get
early and regular health care and are at greater risk of
complications such as premature labor, anemia, and
hypertension. Like many adults, a pregnant teenager often
has poor eating habits; she may diet, neglect to take a daily
prenatal vitamin, or smoke and take drugs — further



increasing the risk of having a low-birthweight infant (less than 5 %2
Ib) or one born with other health problems. A low-birthweight infant
is 20 times more likely than one of normal weight to die in the first
year of life. Contemporary OB/GYN, May 2006.

The purpose of SB 2181 is to create an appropriate legal environment for physicians
to address the myriad of situations that confront them when a pregnant minor comes
to them asking for confidential care. The bill is also necessary to ensure that
pregnant minors receive appropriate prenatal care to protect their unborn child and
ensure a safe and successful delivery. The bill also recognizes the appropriate role of
the minor’s parents or guardian in contributing to a successful health care outcome
for their pregnant child.

In summary, SB 2181 would authorize a minor to consent and contract for medical,
mental, and other healthcare services to determine the presence of or to treat
pregnancy and conditions associated with pregnancy. At the same time, the bill
recognizes the ethical imperative for physicians that they encourage the minor to
involve her parents or guardian. A physician or other healthcare professional would
not be compelled against their best judgment to treat a minor based on the minor’s
own consent. In addition, a physician or other healthcare professional would be
authorized under the bill to inform the parent or the guardian of the minor of any
health care services given or needed after discussion with the minor under various
circumstances.

The purpose of the bill is not to diminish the general legal rights of parents to make
health care decisions for their minor children. The bill does not say that physicians
are to rely solely on the consent of a minor in every situation involving a request for
pregnancy-related care. In most instances the parents of the minor are in fact
involved and acting in the best interests of their child and her unborn child. And the
bill does not authorize a minor to consent to abortion.

When a young person comes to a physician asking for confidential medical care,
physicians are ethically bound to encourage that young person to involve his or her
parents or guardian, States have traditionally recognized the right of parents to make
health care decisions on their children’s behalf on the presumption that before
reaching the age of majority, young people lack the experience and judgment to
make fully informed decisions. In North Dakota, the Legislative Assembly in 1991
enacted a third-party consent statute [NDCC 23-12-13] that suggests as a general
proposition that a minor does not have capacity to provide informed consent for
health care.

Nevertheless, there have long been exceptions to the rule that minors lack capacity to
provide consent for health care. In North Dakota, our statutes recognize the ability of



minors to make decisions in a number of contexts, without the consent of a parent or
guardian:

. NDCC Section 14-10-17: Examination, care, and treatment for sexually
transmitted disease, alcoholism, or drug abuse

° NDCC Section 14-10-17.1: Examination, care, or treatment in a life-
threatening situation

Concern about confidentiality is often a major obstacle to the delivery of health care
to minors. Access to confidential services is often essential, because many minors
will not seek care if they have to inform a parent or have their parents’ consent.
These laws encourage young people to seek the health care services they need and
enable them to talk candidly with their physician or other health professional. If
access to confidential health care is not an option, these young people simply may
not seek the care they need for themselves and their unborn child.

SB 2181 follows the ethics of medical practice. The American Medical Association
Code of Medical Ethics addresses the issue of confidential care for minors, and a
copy of the ethics opinion is included as an attachment to my written testimony. 1
will briefly review the bill.

Subsection 1: The language in subsection 1 provides authorization for a minor to
consent for pregnancy-related services, as derived from Minnesota law [Minn. Stat.
144.343]. Subsection 1 uses the Minnesota terminology “medical, mental, or other
health services to determine the presence of or to treat pregnancy and conditions
associated with pregnancy” in describing the services to which a minor may consent.
The consent of no other person is required. The authorization does not include
abortion services, which are governed by the state’s Abortion Control Act [NDCC
14-02.1]. The Abortion Control Act provides for specific consent and notification
requirements that would not be affected by this legislation.

Subsection 2: The first sentence in subsection 2 is derived from the American
Medical Association Code of Medical Ethics (E-5.055). That language recognizes
that as a general proposition if a minor requests confidential services to determine
the presence of or to treat pregnancy and conditions associated with pregnancy, the
minor should be encouraged to involve her parents or guardian. The subsection also
states specifically that a physician could not be compelled against their best
judgment to treat a minor based on the minor’s own consent. That language in
subsection 2 is derived from Montana law [Mont. Code Ann. 41-1-407]. This
provision provides the necessary medical discretion to allow the physician or other
health professional to work within the ethical guidelines that address confidential




care for minors, considering such factors as the maturity of the minor and the
circumstances surrounding the minor’s request for confidential medical care.

Subsection 3: The language in subsection 3 authorizes disclosure to parents or
guardian in under certain circumstances deemed appropriate in the physician’s or
other health professional’s judgment, but only if the physician or other health care
professional discusses with the minor the reasons for informing the parent or
guardian before the disclosure. This prior discussion requirement is consistent with
the AMA Ethics Code. The circumstances that may result in disclosure to the parent
or guardian include:

- Failure to inform the parent or guardian would seriously jeopardize the health of
the minor (serious jeopardy standard recognized in AMA Ethics Code, Minnesota
and Montana);

- Major surgery or prolonged hospitalization is needed (Mont. Code Ann. 41-1-
403); or

- Informing the parent or guardian would benefit the minor's physical and mental
health (Mont. Code Ann. 41-1-403).

NDMA urges you to support SB 2181 with a “do pass” recommendation.
I will attempt to answer any questions you have. Dr. Orser also has prepared

testimony and can answer your questions from her experience in providing medical
care to pregnant minors.




E-5.055 Confidential Care for Minors

AMA Code of Medical Ethics

Physicians who treat minors have an ethical duty to promote the autonomy of minor
patients by involving them in the medical decision-making process to a degree
commensurate with their abilities.

When minors request confidential services, physicians should encourage them to
involve their parents. This includes making efforts to obtain the minor’s reasons for
not involving their parents and correcting misconceptions that may be motivating
their objections.

Where the law does not require otherwise, physicians should permit a competent
minor to consent to medical care and should not notify parents without the patient’s
consent. Depending on the seriousness of the decision, competence may be evaluated
by physicians for most minors. When necessary, experts in adolescent medicine or
child psychological development should be consulted. Use of the courts for
competence determinations should be made only as a last resort.

When an immature minor requests contraceptive services, pregnancy-related care
(including pregnancy testing, prenatal and postnatal care, and delivery services), or
treatment for sexually transmitted disease, drug and alcohol abuse, or mental illness,
physicians must recognize that requiring parental involvement may be
counterproductive to the health of the patient. Physicians should encourage parental
involvement in these situations. However, if the minor continues to object, his or her
wishes ordinarily should be respected. If the physician is uncomfortable with
providing services without parental involvement, and alternative confidential
services are available, the minor may be referred to those services. In cases when the
physician believes that without parental involvement and guidance, the minor will
face a serious health threat, and there is reason to believe that the parents will be
helpful and understanding, disclosing the problem to the parents is ethically justified.
When the physician does breach confidentiality to the parents, he or she must discuss
the reasons for the breach with the minor prior to the disclosure.

For minors who are mature enough to be unaccompanied by their parents for their
examination, confidentiality of information disclosed during an exam, interview, or
in counseling should be maintained. Such information may be disclosed to parents
when the patient consents to disclosure. Confidentiality may be justifiably breached
in situations for which confidentiality for adults may be breached, according to
Opinion 5.05, "Confidentiality." In addition, confidentiality for immature minors
may be ethically breached when necessary to enable the parent to make an informed
decision about treatment for the minor or when such a breach is necessary to avert
serious harm to the minor. (IV) Issued June 1994 based on the report "Confidential
Care for Minors," adopted June 1992; Updated June 1996.
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Senator Lee and members of the Human Services Committee,

For the record my name is Shar Orser, an obstetrician-gynecologist. 1 am an employee of

Medcenter One Health Systems, but today 1 am testifying on my own behalf.

I believe this bill is vitally important. It offers confidentiality to assure that needed care is
given to the minor in those unfortunate circumstances where the parents do not necessarily
have the best interest of the minor in mind. This is especially important when young women
are pregnant in order to assure the best possible outcome for the newborn child and the

mother.

In surveys minors and providers consistently identify concerns about lack of confidentiality
as a barrier to obtaining heaith care. Minors who are pregnant, have STD’s, abuse drugs and

alcohol, or have emotional problems may avoid seeking health care if they must inform their

parents.

Our best opportunity for optimal pregnancy outcomes is to begin prenatal care early.
Statistics from the State Department of Health indicate that on average 40% of teenage
mothers start prenatal visits late. Many minors do not present for prenatal care until the mid-
to-late second trimester, often when they can no longer conceal the pregnancy from their

parents. This significantly delays the opportunity for treatment with folic acid, providing



iron for anemia, counseling about healthy diet, discussion of other high risk behaviors such

as smoking, alcohol and drug use, early treatment of STD’s and identification of other risk
factors for poor outcome. Some minors do not even come in until they are already in labor
and have not received any prenatal care. In either situation, the health of both the mother and

child is put in jeopardy.

Accessing care late in a pregnancy is a risk factor for early delivery and babies that are born
too early, result in 60% of infant morbidity and mortality. The cost of one day in our NICU
(Neonatal Intensive Care Unit) is substantial. If minors are assured of confidentiality they
will feel able to seek health care earlier in the pregnancy and would improve pregnancy
outcomes as well as potentially limit the risks and eliminate the cost of additional treatment

for complications.

When minors know their confidentiality will be respected, they will be able to develop a

relationship of trust with the health care provider and in turn the health care provider will be
able to encourage the minor to seek parental involvement or facilitate discussions with the

minor and the parent if needed.

We would like to believe that all parents are loving and have only their child’s best interest at

heart, but the sad truth is that that is not always the case.

1 am aware of a situation in which a parent refused to consent to an epidural for her 16-year-

old daughter. She felt that since her child got herself into the situation, she deserved to



endure the pain of labor. This bill would enable the minor and her physician to determine the

best course of treatment and prevent this sort of abuse of parental authority. In some cases

parental involvement is just not to a minors benefit.

I believe this bill is important to the health and well-being of young mothers and their

children and would urge you to support SB 2181 with a “Do pass” recommendation.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify today. 1 would be happy to answer any questions

you may have.
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Adolescent patients and their

Jim Shive

confidentiality: Staying within legal bounds

By Stephanie L. Anderson, MD, JD, Judith Schaechter, MD; and Jeffrey P Brosco, MD, PHD

i

Coa

A 15-year-old girl (we’ll call her “Cindy”) comes to your
office with an atypical chief complaint: “I want to talk to the
doctor.” With her mother outside in the waiting room, she
tells you that she is sexually active and missed her last period.
She’s concerned that she might be pregnant. And she doesn’t

want her mother to know.

DR. ANDERSON Is Rasearch Asslstant Professar
of Pedlatrics} DR. SCHAECHTER Is Assistant
Protessor of Clinical Pedlatrics, Divislon of
Adolescent Medlcine; and DR. BROSCO is
Assaclate Professor of Clinical Pediatrics, and
Director, Cllnical Services, Mallman Center for
Child Development, alt with the University of
Miaml &chool of Mediclre. The authors have
nothing te disclose In regard 1o affiliations with,
or flnancial interests in, any organization that
may hiave an interest In any part of this artlcle.
(This articie criginally appeared In Contemporary
Pedlatrics.)

or some teenagers, the

hardest part of being preg-

nant, or thinking that they
are, is telling their parents. If a
physician cannot assure confiden-
tiality about pregnancy (or about
any other sensitive health issue),
an adolescent may refrain from
obtaining health care to keep her
parents from learning of her condi-
tion."? Adolescents are ttiore likely
to seek care in a setting in which
they believe their privacy will be
maintained, but state and federal
regulations, ultimately, determine
the degree of privacy that a patient
is afforded.

What right does a teenager
have to confidential health
care? What influence does
HIPAA have on that right?
How you apply the answers
in your practice could
determine whether an
adolescent seeks health
services—or forgoes
necessary care.

Despite the 1978 recommenda-
tions by the Task Force on

Pediatric Education to improve

training for adolescent health care,
many pediatricians and ob/gyns
continue to lack confidence in their
ability to address adolescent issues
and often do not provide compre-
hensive care to this age group* A
study of the availability of adoles-

-cent health services and of confi-

dentiality in primary care practices
in the Washington, D.C., metropol-
itan area found that pediatric prac-
tices were less likely than family
medicine and internal medicine
practices to offer adolescents serv-
ices such as contraception and
pregnancy testing.’ They were also
less likely than. family medicine
practices to offer adolescents confi-
dential care.’ Pediatricians partici-
pating in the survey commonly
cited lack of equipment and expert-
ise, inadequate staffing, and low
patient demand as reasons for not
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offering the services. While
ob/gyns routinely offer contracep-
tion and pregnancy testing, they
too are often not familiar with the
issues of confidentiality that are
so critical to success in treating
teens.

Although the teen birth rate has
declined steadily since 1991,
about 800,000 teenagers become
pregnant each year, and about
400,000 give birth.® When confi-
dentiality is a barrier to a preg-
nant minor seeking care, the
health consequences can be sig-
nificant.” Pregnant teens are the
least likely of all age groups to get
early and regular health care
and are at greater risk of compli-
cations such as premature labor,
anemia, and hypertension.® Like
many adults, a pregnant teenager
often has poor eating habits; she
may diet, neglect to take a daily
prenatal vitamin, or smoke and
take drugs—further increasing the
risk of having a low-birthweight
infant (less than 5‘/2 1b) or one
born with other health problems.
A low-birthweight infant is 20
times more likely than one of nor-
mal weight to die in the first year
of life.?

The physician who is approached
by an adolescent in a scenario
like the one involving Cindy can
make the clinical diagnosis easily
enough. The challenge arises in
responding to the adolescent’s
request for confidentiality. Under-
standing the rights of the adoles-
cent patient and applying them
appropriately in the primary care
setting can reduce a barrier to
care in this population.
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What are the rights of an adolescent
to confldential heatth care?

The Society of Adolescent Medi-
cine (SAM) and the American
College of Obstetricians and
Gymnecologists (ACOG) have called
for health providers to make their
patients aware of the requirements
of confidential care and to strike
the often difficult balance between
maintaining an adolescents confi-
dences and involving responsible
adults when necessary. *"*

In general, an individual’s right
to control information about her
health care is linked to that per-
son’s right to consent to the care
itself. As a rule, children younger
than 18 years are not allowed to
consent to medical treatment; their
parents (or legal guardian) make all
medical decisions and, therefore,
generally have the right to access

the health information that results
from that treatment.

That rule notwithstanding, public
policy for more than three decades
has reflected the understanding that
many minors will not seek health
services if they must first inform
their parents. All 50 states have
enacted legislation that entitles ado-
lescents to consent to treatment,
without parents’ knowledge, to one
or more “medically emancipated”
conditions (Table 1). For example,
[ 27 states explicitly allow minors to
consent to contraceptive services
without their parents’ consent or
knowledge. The laws vary from
state to state and are, sometimes,
complicated. Laws regarding HIV,
for example, may involve more
stringent privacy. rules. ]

“Medically emancipated condi-
tions” should not be confused with
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the term “emancipated
minor.” State law provides
for a legal proceeding that
allows a person under the
age of majority (18 years in
most states) to petition the
court for the full rights of
an adult—i.e., become an_
emancipated minor. Thig
granting of adult rights is
based on the maturity of
the minor and the minors
need for adult status,
Conditions that make it
inappropriate for the
minor's parents to retain
control over the minor may ;
include marriage or service .
in the armed forces.

When state law does not
require consent of a parent
or guardian for medically

emancipated conditions, -;i-:_- ‘5,&-‘.‘
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-:+¢  of privacy than provided by
"¢, state law. In states where
’ disclosure to parents is
5 ey mandatory, however, such
1 physician-parent-patient
' agreements would gener-
-ally not be permitted.
Because laws regarding
an adolescent’s right to con-
fidentiality vary by state,
clinicians are obligated to
understand the law in the
state where they practice
medicine. Ob/gyns may
find help in this regard
from ACOG, specialists in
. adolescent medicine, or the
state bar association.
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How does HIPAA affecl the
adolescent’s right to
it confldentiality?

The Health Insurance

the consenting minor, not
the parent, controls the health-care
decisions and access to health
information related teo that care.
Therefore, [ a minor seeking treat-
ment for an emancipated condition
has three options: ]

® Consent to treatment and with-
hold medical information pertain-
ing to the emancipated condition
from her parents. The physician
may not disclose such information
to the family without the minor’s
permission.

® Involve a parent in these health
decisions, yet retain the right to
control the health information.
Here, the minor has the benefit of a
parent’s counsel and advice, but
still ultimately makes the health-
care decisions and thus controls
the resulting information.

58 CONTEMPORARY OB/GYN = MAY 20G6

® Have the parent continue to
control all the health-care deci-
sions and the resulting health
information. '

Where state law does not require
disclosure to parents, the parents
may agree beforehand to a confi-
dential relationship between the
minor child and the physician for
medical conditions not included on
the state’s list of emancipated con-
ditons. The child would then be
able to consent to treatment for an
injury sustained at or away from
school, for example, or for symp-
toms of an illness that the child
fears might upset his parent. In this
case the parent relinquishes access
to health information related to
that confidential relationship, giv-
ing the child an even higher level

Portability and Accounta-
bility Act of 1996 (HIPAA), a fed-
eral act that came into final form in
August 2002, is intended to assure
that patients’ private health infor-
mation is kept confidential and that
information disclosed for purposes
other than health care is minimal.
Much like state law, the principle
underlying disclosure under
HIPAA is that, if a person has the
right to make a health-care deci-
sion (i.e., to consent 1o treatment),
she has the right to control infor-
mation that results from that deci-
sion. HIPAA recognizes that par-
ents generally have the right to
make health-care decisions for
their child and, therefore, to con-
trol the so-called protected health
information (PHI) associated with
those decisions. In those situations
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where state law allows a minor to
consent to a particular health serv-
ice, and the minor does so, HIPAA
generally allows the minor to con-
trol the PHI associated with that
service or {reatment.

However, when state law specifi-
cally addresses disclosure of a
minor’s PHI toe a parent or guard-
ian, state law preempts HIPAA,
regardless of whether that law pro-
hibits, mandates, or allows discre-
tion about a disclosure.!? [if, for
example, state law requires parental
notification of a minor’s health
information (such as about abor-
tion), HIPAA does not protect
adolescent confidentiality. But
HIPAA does allow the treating
physician discretion to deny the
parent access to a minor's PHI
(even where state law would dic-
tate disclosure) when, in the physi-
cians judgment, such access consti-
tutes an imminent threat to the
minor or another person. ] Similarly,
when state law prohibits disclosure
of PHI to a parent without the
minor's consent, HIPAA nonethe-
less allows the provider discretdon
to disclose if she believes that
doing so will prevent or diminish
an imminent threat to the minor or
another person.

When state law is silent or
unclear regarding control or dis-
closure of an adolescent’s PH! for
medially emancipated conditions,
the default under HIPAA is for
maintaining confidentality. Again,
in situations in which the physi-
cian believes that an imminent
threat to the minor or another per-
son can be diminished or pre-
vented, she may disclose PHL." In

When a patient
trusts her physician,
she is less likely to
delay medical care
and more likely to
seek reliable health

information.

the absence of such a threat,
HIPAA does not allow a provider
to disclose without the minor’s
permission.

Cindy is in the 10th grade,
doing well in school, and hopes
to become a police officer
someday. She usually has
menstrual bleeding every 28
days, and her period was due .
3 weeks ago. She has had some
nausea in the mornings but no
other complaints. She notes
that her btzvfriend, a 16-year
old high school track star,
usually uses a condom. They
plan to get married someday.
Her physical examination is
within normal limits.

You have known the patient’s
mother for some years. She is a
schoolteacher who has been

472\, CONFIDENTIALITY

very diligent in taking care of

¢ her daughter. You have not met

the girl’s father, but he has
seemed like a reasonable
person when you’ve talked to
him on the telephone in the
past. Your patient says that
her parents are “very religious”
and worries that they wil,
throw her out of the house if
they find out she’s pregnant.

What Is the next step?

For some adolescents, the threat of
being “thrown out of the house” is
a real one, and many teenagers are
subject to physical or emotional
abuse by a parent or an intimate
partner. Indeed, in studies, as many
as a third of pregnant adolescents
report being abused during preg-
nancy *1*

In Cindy’s case, the physician
correctly asks her why she fears
telling her parents, Based on her
response and his knowledge of her
parents, he should next try to dis-
cuss with her how likely it is that
her parents will be unhelpful.

Testing is also warranted. In
addition to conducting a urine
pregnancy test, screening for sexui-
ally transmitted infections ($T1s) is
appropriate in cases of suspected
pregnancy.'® Nearly half of all high
school students have had sex, and
20% of 12th graders have had four
or more sexual partners.}” Fach
year, 2.5 million teenagers acquire
an STI, and many of them remain
asymptomatic.'® Girls 15 to 19
years of age have the highest rates
of gonorrhea among women of all
age groups, and, because of their
increased cervical ectopy, teens are

MAY 2006 o CONTEMPORARY OB/GYN 57
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at increased risk of Chlamydia tra-
chomatis infection, the most com-
mon sexually transmitted bacterial
disease.’ Even a subclinical STI
can progress to pelvic inflamma-
tory disease, with its high compli-

cation rate of infertility, chromc. ‘

pelvic pain, and tubal pregnancy.®®

Chlamydia and gonorrhea can be
tested for simultaneously. Nucleic
acid amplification tests (NAAT) or
nucleic acid probe testing can be
used on swabs from the urethra or
the endocervix. As C trachomatis is
an obligate intracellular bacteria, it
is important that epithelial cells
rather than exudates comprise the
sample; vaginal swabs are not rec-
ommended. NAAT assays can also
be used on first void urine samples,
with sensitivity only slightly less
than samples obtained from the
cervix or urethra, but with the
advantage of patent comfort and
ease of collection.”

Screening for STls also includes
serologic testing for HIV, syphilis,
and hepatitis B. Written consent for
HIV testing is required and can be
obtained from the adolescent with-
out parental notification or con-
sent. [ Indeed, all 50 states allow
for confidential STI testing. Note:
“Confidential” is not synonymous
with “anonymous” (see the box on
this page).

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) is often
forgotten as an STI, but the preva-
lence of this virus is as high as 10%
among populations with high-risk
sexual behaviors, including sex
without condoms and sex with
multiple partners. The effectiveness
of the hepatitis B vaccination is
90% to 95% after three doses. i,
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however, the patient’s vaccination
status is unclear, or the patent is
immunocompromised, you may
obtain hepatitis B surface antigen
antibody titers to ensure immunity.
If the findings are negative, reim-
munization with a series of three
vaccines is appropriate.

Some sexually active teenagers
should be screened for cervical
cancer with Pap testing. The sexu-
ally transmitted human papillo-
mavirus is found in the cervix of
15% to 38% of sexually active ado-
lescent girls and has been impli-
cated as an etiologic agem in 90%
of cervical cancers.”* Recently
updated recommendations suggest
that screening begin within 3 years
of sexunal debut, or by 21 years of
age in a woman who has delayed
first sexual intercourse. Standard
Pap testing should occur annually,
although newer, liquid-based
preparations may allow for testing
every other year.
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What Issues does billing ralse?

Although you, as the health-care
provider, have some control over
the medical record, parents are
entitled to review the details of
health insurance billing if they are
financially responsible for the care
rendered. Adolescents who seek
health care either without insur-
ance or outside their parents’ insur-
ance plan will likely face unafford-
ably high payments, which may
force them to forgo care.

Even though states recognize sit-
uations in which it is appropriate
for minors to consent to medical
treatment, provisions are rarely
included in statutes for making
that care financially accessible. In
Florida, for example, Statue
384.30(2) reads “[the} fact of con-
sultation, examination, and treat-
ment of a miner for sexually trans-
missible disease is confidendal and

.. shall not be divulged in any
direct or indirect manmer, such as



sending a bill for services rendered
to a parent or guardian ..." While
adding a measure of confidentiality,
the law falls short of providing pay-
ment for those services.

The federal Medicaid program is
an exception. For those adolescents
covered by Medicaid, the statute
requires that family plarning serv-
ices be provided (and paid for) for
sexually active minors who desire
them on 2 confidential basis. A few
states include services beyond fam-
ily planning. In California, the
MediCal program called Sensitive
Services (also known as Minor
Consent Services) provides health
care for residents between the ages
of 12 and 21 who want to receive
services without parental consent.
Payment is provided for services
related to pregnancy, family plan-
ning, abortion, testing and treat-
ment for STDs, HIV testing, mental
health, and substance abuse.

Physicians who are committed to
providing comprehensive health
care to adolescents can minimize
problems related to billing by hav-
ing a written policy regarding con-
fidentiality and teenagers. They can
review this policy and the chal-
lenges of providing confidential
health care with patients and their
parents during pre-teen well-child
visits—before such services may be
needed.

[ Focus the discussion on helping
the parent understand the benefits
of a confidentiality agreement:] The
teenager may seek more preventive
health education and will have a
safe, accurate, and trusted source of

health information in addition to.

the parent. It is important that the
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When state law does
not regire consent of
a parent or guardian
for medically
emancipated
conditions, the
consenting minor, not
the parent, controls the
health-care decisions.

parent understand that you are not
usurping parental authority but
rather working for the shared goals
of health, safety, and wise decision-
making on the part of the adoles-
cent. While parents may initially
feel they are being asked to relin-

quish control, many will eventually .

understand that such an approach
can help their child. Some parenis
may even be willing to make agree-
ments about payment for services,
with access to any medical infor-
mation being controlled by the
minor child. Parents can authorize

" health insurance payment without

seeing the diagnosis or the lab tests
that were ordered.

Physicians who choose to pro-
vide more limited care to adoles-
cents can still help ensure greater
access to health services by offering
referrals to a practice, a specific
specialist, the health department,

“or a clinic proficient in providing
“the needed care.

You tell Cindy that you share
her concerns about pregnancy
and that, furthermore, many
sexually active teenagers have
an STI without knowing it. You
recommend testing her blood
and urine (and a gynecologic
exam) and provide pre-test
counseling and screening for
HIV, syphilis (by rapid plasma
reagin [RPR] testing), and
HBY infection. You recommend
that her boyfriend obtain
similar tests, and urge condom
use for every sexual encounter.
You remind Cindy about
your previous pledge of
confidentiality (except in cases
of intended violence or risk
of suicide), but also explain
the many benefits of her
maintaining an open
relationship with her parents—
including emotional and
financial support. You offer to
be present if she discloses to
her parents, or to tell her
parents yourself. She is still
concerned about her parents’
reaction, though, and does not
want them to inow. She
consents to a pregnancy test in
your office, but not to STI



_-“When state law does not

the term “emancipated
minor.” -State law provides
for a legal proceeding that
allows a person under the °;
age of majority (18 years in
most states) to petition the
court for the full rights of
an adult—i.e., become an_
emancipated minor. This
granting of adult rights is
based on the maturity of
the minor and the minor's
need for adult status,
Conditions that make it
inappropriate for the
minor's parents to retain
control ‘over the minor may
inclade marriage or service
in tHe armed forces.

require ‘consent of a parent
or guardian for medically
emancipated conditions,
the consenting minor, not
the parent, controls the health-care
decisions and access to health
information related to that care.
Therefore, [ a2 minor seeking treat-
ment for an emancipated condition
has three options: ]

¥ Consent to treatment and with-
hold medical information pertain-
ing to the emancipated condition
from her parents. The physician
may not disclose such information
to the family without the minor’s
permission.

B Involve a parent in these health
decisions, yet retain the right to
control the health information.
Here, the minor has the benefit of a
parent’s counsel and advice, but
still ultimately makes the health-
care decisions and thus controls
the resulting information.
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W Have the parent continue to
control all the health-care deci-
sions and the resulting health
information. ‘

Where state law does not require
disclosure to parents, the parents
may agree beforehand to a confi-
dential relationship between the
minor child and the physician for
medical conditions not included on
the state's list of emancipated con-
didons. The child would then be
able to consent to treatment for an
injury sustained at or away from
school, for example, or for symp-
toms of an illness that the child
fears might upset his parent. In this
case the parent relinquishes access
to health information relatéd to
that confidental relationship, giv-
ing the child an even higher level

T

of privacy than provided by
state law. In states where
disclosure to parents is
mandatory, however, such
physician-parent-patient
agreements would gener-
-ally not be permitted.

Because laws regarding
an adolescent’s right to con-
fidentiality vary by state,
clinicians are obligated to
understand the law in the
state where they practice
medicine. Ob/gyns may
find help in this regard
from ACOG, specialists in
4 . adolescent medicine, or the
state bar associadon.

How dogs HIPAA affect the
adolescent’s right to
confldentiality?

The Health Insurance
" Portability and Accounta-
bility Act of 1996 (HIPAA), a fed-
eral act that came into final form in
August 2002, is intended to assure
that patients’ private health infor-
mation is kept confidential and that
information disclosed for purposes
other than health care is minimal.
Much like state law, the principle
underlying - disclosure under
HIPAA is that, if a person has the
right to make a health-care deci-
sion (i.e., to consent to treatment),
she has the right to control infor-
maton that results from that deci-
sion. HIPAA recognizes that par-
ents generally have the right to
make health-care decisions for
their child and, therefore, to con-
trol the so-called protected health
information (PHI) associated with
those decisions. In those situations

e



where state law allows a minor to . HisES

consent to a particular health serv-
ice, and the minor does so, HIPAA
generally allows the minor to con-
trol the PHI associated with that
service or treatment,

However, when state law specifi-
cally addresses disclosure of a
minoer’s PHI to a parent or guard-
ian, state law preempts HIPAA,
regardless of whether that law pro-
hibits, mandates, or allows discre-
tion about a disclosure.?* [If, for

example, state law requires parental

notification of a minor’s health
information (such as about abor-

“tion), HIPAA does not protect

adolescent confidentiality. But
HIPAA does allow the treating

_ physician discretion to deny the

parent access to a minor’s PHI
(even where state law would dic-
tate disclosure) when, in the physi-
cians judgment, such access const-
tutes an imminent threat to the
minor or another person.] Similarly,
when state law prohibits disclosure
of PHI to a parent without the
minor's consent, HIPAA nonethe-
less allows the provider discretion
to disclose if she believes that
doing so will prevent or diminish
an imminent threat to the minor or
another person. :
When state law is silent or
unclear regarding control or dis-
closure of an adolescent’s PHI for
medially emancipated conditions,
the default under HIPAA is for
maintaining confidentality. Again,
in situations in which the physi-
cian believes that an imminent
threat to the minor or another per-
son can be diminished or E)re-
vented, she may disclose PHL" In

When a patient
trusts her physician,
she is less likely to
delay medical care
and more likely to
seek reliable health

information.

the absence of such a threat,
HIPAA does not allow a provider
to disclose without the minor's
permission,

Cindy is in the 10th grade,
doing well in school, and hopes
to become a police officer
someday. She usually has
menstrual bleeding every 28
days, and her period was due .
3 weeks ago. She has had some
nausea in the mornings but no
other complaints. She notes
that her bczrﬁ'iend, a 16-year-
old high school track star,
usually uses a condom. They
plan to get married someday.
Her physical examination is
within normal limits.

You have known the patient’s
mother for some years. She is a
schoolteacher who has been

CONFIDENTIALITY |
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very diligent in taking care of

¢ her daughter. You have not met
the girl’s father, but he has
seemed like a reasonable
person when you’ve talked to
him on the telephone in the
past. Your patient says that
her parents are “very religious”
and worries that they wil,
throw her out of the house if
they find out she’s pregnant.

What Is the noxt step?

For some adolescents, the threat of
being “thrown out of the house” is
a real one, and many teenagers are
subject to physical or emotional
abuse by a parent or an intimate
parmer. Indeed, in studies, as many
as a third of pregnant adoclescents
report being abused during preg-
nancy, '

In Cindy’s case, the physician
correctly asks her why she fears
telling her parents. Based on her
response and his knowledge of her
parents, he should next try to dis-
cuss with her how likely it is that
her parents will be unhelpful.

Testing is also warranted. In
addition to conducting a urine
pregnancy test, screening for sexu-
ally transmitted infections (ST1s) is
appropriate in cases of suspected
pregnancy.'® Nearly half of all high
school students have had sex, and
20% of 12th graders have had four
or more sexual partners.!” Fach
year, 2.5 million teenagers acquire
an STI, and mang' of them remain
asymptomatic.”® Girls 15 to 19
years of age have the highest rates
of gonorrhea among women of all
age groups, and, because of their
increased cervical ectopy, teens are
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at increased risk of Chlamydia tra-
chomatis infection, the most com-
mon sexually transmitted bacterial
disease."” Even a subclinical STI
can progress to pelvic inflamma-
tory disease, with its high compli-

cation rate of infertility, chronic.

pelvic pain, and tubal pregnancy.®

Chlamydia and gonorrhea can be
tested for simultaneously. Nucleic
acid amplification tests (NAAT) or
nucleic acid probe testing can be
used on swabs from the urethra or
the endocervix. As C trachomatis is
an obligate intracellular bacteria, it
is important that epithelial cells
rather than exudates comprise the
sample; vaginal swabs are not rec-
ommended. NAAT assays can also
be used on first void urine samples,
with sensitivity only slightly less
than samples obtained from the
cervix or urethra, but with the
advantage of patient comfort and
ease of collection.?

Screening for STIs also includes
serologic testing for HIV, syphilis,
and hepatitis B. Written consent for
HIV testing is required and can be
obtained from the adolescent with-
out parental notification or con-
sent. [ Indeed, all 50 states allow
for confidential STI testing. Note:
“Confidential” is not synenymous
with “anonymous” (see the box on
this page).

-Hepatitis B virus (HBV) is often
forgotten as an STI, but the preva-
lence of this virus is as high as 10%
among populations with high-risk
sexual behaviors, including sex
without condoms and sex with
multiple partners. The effectiveness
of the hepatitis B vaccination is
90% to 95% after three doses. If,
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however, the patient’s vaccination
status is unclear, or the patient is
immunocompromised, you may
obtain hepatitis B surface antigen
antibody titers to ensure immunity.
If the findings are negative, reim-
munization with a series of three
vaccines is appropriate.

Some sexually active teenagers -

should be screened for cervical
cancer with Pap testing. The sexu-
ally transmitted human papillo-
mavirus is found in the cervix of
15% to 38% of sexually active ado-
lescent girls and has been impli-
cated as an eﬁologic agent in 90%
of cervical cancers.” Recently
updated recommendations suggest
that screening begin within 3 years
of sexual debut, or by 21 years of
age in a woman who has delayed
first sexual intercourse. Standard
Pap testing should occur annually,
although newer, liquid-based
preparations may allow for testing
every other year.

o)

What Issues does bllling ralse?
Although you, as the health-care
provider, have some control over
the medical record, parents are
entitled to review the details of
health insurance billing if they are
financially responsible for the care
renderéd. Adolescents who seek
health care either without insur-
ance or outside their parents’ insur-
ance plan will likely face unafford-
ably high payments, which may
force them to forgo care.

Even though states recognize sit-
uations in which it is appropriate
for minors to consent to medical
treatment, provisions are rarely
included in statutes for making
that care financially accessible. In
Florida, for example, Statue
384.30(2) reads “[the] fact of con-
sultation, examination, and treat-
ment of a minor for sexually trans-
missible disease is confidental and

. shall not be divulged in any
direct or indirect manner, such as



sending a bill for services rendered
to a parent or guardian ...” While
adding a measure of confidentiality,
the law falls short of providing pay-
ment for those services.

The federal Medicaid program is
an exception. For those adolescents
covered by Medicaid, the statute
requires that family planining serv-
ices be provided (and paid for) for
sexually active minors who desire
them on a confidential basis. A few
states include services beyond fam-
ily planning. In California, the
MediCal program called Sensitive
Services (also known as Minor
Consent Services) provides health
care for residents between the ages
of 12 and 21 who want to receive

services without parental consent, .

Payment is provided for services
related to pregnancy, family plan-
ning, abortion, testing and treat-
ment for STDs, HIV testing, mental
health, and substance abuse.

Physicians who are committed to
providing comprehensive health
care to adolescents can minimize
problems related to billing by hav-
ing a written policy regarding con-
fidentiality and teenagers. They can
review this policy and the chal-
lenges of providing confidential
health care with patients and their
parents during pre-teen well-child
visits—before such services may be
needed.

[ Focus the discussion on helping
the parent understand the benefits
of a confidentiality agreement:] The
teenager may seek more preventive
health education and will have a
safe, accurate, and trusted source of

health information in addition to.

the parent. It is important that the
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When state law does
not ragiire consent of
a parent or.guardian

for medically
emancipated
gonditions, the
congenting- minor, not
the parent, controls the
health-care decisions.

parent understand that you are not
usurping parental authority but
rather working for the shared goals
of health, safety, and wise decision-
making on the part of the adoles-
cent. While parents may initially
feel they are being asked to relin-

quish control, many will eventually .

understand that such an approach
can help their child. Some parents
may even be willing to make agree-
ments about payment for services,
with access to any medical infor-
mation being controlled by the
minor child. Parents can authorize

s

health insurance payment without
seeing the diagnosis or the lab tests :
that were ordered.

Physicians who choose to pro- '
vide more limited care to adoles-
cents can still help ensure greater
access to health services by offering

‘referrals to a practice, a specific

specialist, the health department,

“or a clinic proficient in providing
“the needed care.

You tell Cindy that you share
her concerns about pregnancy
and that, furthermore, many

‘sexually active teenagers have

an STI without knowing it. You .
recommend testing her blood
and urine (and a gynecologic
exam) and provide pre-test
counseling and screening for
HIV, sy, th’s (by rapid plasma
reagin [RPR] testing), and
HBYV infection. You recommend
that her boyfriend obtain
similar tests, and urge condom
use for every sexual encounter.
You remind Cindy about
your previous pledge of
confidentiality (except in cases
of intended violence or risk
of suicide), but also explain
the many benefits of her
maintaining an open
relationship with her parents—
including emotional and
financial support. You offer to
be present if she discloses to
her parents, or to tell her
parents yourself. She is still
concerned about her parents’
reaction, though, and does not
want them to inow. She
consents to a pregnancy test in
your office, but not to STI



testing after you explain that
the billing records will reveal
that such testing was performed.

What will you tell her mother?
Many parents are eager for the
physician to discuss topics such as
sexual activity and drug use with
their teenager. They readily agree
that confidentiality is an important
aspect of good health care and
counseling. But most parents also
feel strongly that they have a right
to kriow about important events in
their childs life. As discussed, most
state laws provide parents with the
right to know about all health con-
ditions except in very specific situ-
ations such as pregnancy and infec-
tion with a STI.

In this case, the law provides
Cindy with the right to confidential
health care regarding her posstble
pregnancy. This holds true even if
the parents ask direct questions,
such as {*Is my daughter pregnant?”
The'key:to responding to such
questions is understanding that
you do not have to answer “Yes” or
“No.” Indeed, lying to the parents
will destroy your credibility with
them and. provide a, poor example
for the adolescent patient.] Instead,
you can remind the parent of the
office’s policy on confidentiality
and that the parents agreed to such
a plan. You can explain that it is
your expert medical opinion that
protecting the patient’s confiden-
tiality is in their daughter’s best

interests. You can encourage par- -

ents to discuss their concerns with
their daughter. :

Before speaking to the parent,
ask the patient what she would like
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It is important that the
parent understand that
you are not usurping
parental authority but
rather working for

the shared goals of
health, safety, and
wise decision-making
for the teen.

- you to say to thie parent. This pro-

vides an opportunity for you to
make it clear that‘you will not lie to
the parent. It also provides the
patient with some time to think
about whiat she will say, now that
she is clearly informed of what you
intend to share (and not share)
with the parents.

The pregnancy test is positive..
Cindy is crying, but she does
not want to disclose the results
to her parents. You comfort
her and ask if she has someone
to confide in, such as clergy, .
extended family, or close’gmibr
friends. She says she can talk
with her aunt, and she '
promises not to hurt herself,
You remind her about the
dangers of drinking and
smoking to the fetus. You
briefly describe her options
(adoption, raising the child, -
termination of pregnancy) and
schedule a follow-up S
appointment for the next day

r further discussion. -

Her mother has learned from

previous visits that you will
not disclose confidential
information, but she is visibly

worried. You remind her about
« the importance of o
confidentiality, and you
reassure her that your role is
to provide the best health care
to her daughter.
When and how do you discuss .
options for the pregnant - :
adolescent?

Adolescents who are pregnant may

choose to complete the pregnancy
and raise the baby, complete the
pregnancy and give the baby to a
family wanting to raise a child, or
terminate the pregnancy. Some
experts recommend discussing
these options with the patient

before doing the pregnancy test 242 _

For the adolescent who turns out
not to be pregnant, a discussion
before the results are known
emphasizes the real risks of unpro-
tected sexual intercourse. For the
adolescent who has just learned
she is pregnant, the news is likely
to evoke exireme emotion, making
it difficult to understand the med-
ical options. Subsequent visits may
be necessary, '

‘Some ob/gyns may be uncomfort-
able discussing options available to
pregnant teenagers. Nonetheless, it
is essential that patients have full
medical information and under-

 stand the risks and benefits of each
course of action. An ob/gyn who is
unwilling or incapable of providing
appropriate counseling should refer
the patient to another provider or

specialist. Ob/gyns who do discuss’

all options with their patients

should note that most states require |
parental notification for minors |
who seek an abortion, though the :

{

. T



constitutional status of such laws is
in question. [ Thirty-one states
require the notification and input of
at léast onie parent in a-minor’s deci-
sion about having an abortion. Al
states provide a mechanism for the
sminor to apply for a judicial bypass
when they do riot want their par-
ents to kiow abotit their decision. ]

The next day Cindy returns
with her mother and her aunt.
She tells you that she is afraid
to tell her parents, but
understands that they will
know sooner or later. She asks
you to tell her mother.

-~ With Cindy and the aunt
present, you explain to the
mother what has hafpgned.
She suspected that her
daughter was in some kind of
trouble, and she is obviously
upset. She is relieved, however,
to know the truth, and
reassures her daughter that
her parents will not abandon
her. You suggest that a member
of the clergy or a family
counselor may be helpful as the
family faces upcoming
challenges. You make a note in
the chart to follow up by
telephone in 1 week.

Optimizing adolescent health

Providers who care for adolescents
must recognize and respond to
issues that lie at the intersection
of medicine, law, and ethics.
Respecting an adolescents right to
privacy reduces one barrier to care.
(In addition to concern over lack of
confidentiality, barriers to adequate
health care for adolescents include
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costs, transportation, inconvenient

office hours, and the inability tof
consent to care.) When a patient
trusts her physician, she is less
likely to delay medical care and
more likely to seek reliable health
information, both of which ulti-
mately improve health. A'physician
who protects a patient’s confiden-
tiality also contributes to her safety
by being sensitive to potential
harm in her environment and by
helping the adolescent negotiate
the particular course she chooses.
Adolescent health concerns, such
as pregnancy, can be emotionally

~ difficult for patients, families, and

providers. ACOG, The American
Academy of Pediatrics, the Ameri-
can Medical Association, and the
Society of Adolescent Medicine, and
have established guidelines to help
providers who care for this special
group navigate the challenges they.
are likely to encounter.**%
Providers must also be aware of
state laws that govern issues of
emancipation, consent, and privacy
for adolescents who have not
reached the age of majority. HIPAA
does not compel a higher standard
of privacy for minors than what is
mandated by states, but it does
allow physicians discretion—to
disclose or to prevent disclosure—
when there is an imminent threat
1o the minor or another person. C]
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Senate Bill 2181
My name is Kathy Perkerewicz. Iam a board certified obstetrician/gynecologist. | am

employed with MedCenter One Health Systems. However, I am here today as a private
citizen.

l'am here in support of Senate Bill 2181. Early and consistent prenatal care is vital for
optimal pregnancy outcomes. I believe that some minors do not seek prenatal care
because they do not want their parents to know they are pregnant. The reason they may
not want to involve their parents is varied. Senate Bill 2181 would eliminate the need for
parental consent to receive care. I strongly believe this would enable some teens to come
into prenatal care carlier.

Teen pregnancies are at higher risk for complications such as gestational hypertension
and pre-eclampsia. By getting early and consistent prenatal care, this risk is reduced.
While we hope that parents have the best interest of their own child in mind, there are
unfortunately situations where this is not the case. A teénager may feel that they are at
risk of physical abuse, or that they may be kicked out of the house if they disclose to their
parents that they are pregnant. This bill would allow them to seek prenatal care, and
hopefully tell their parents when they are ready.

Most teenage pregnancies are not intended pregnancies. By allowing the minor to seek
care on their own we allow them to gain some control over their own life. I think this is
important as they have only a few short months to learn and prepare to become a parent.
By allowing them the comfort of being free to seek care, they likely will be open to the
education provided by the medical community during prenatal visits,

I'applaud you for presenting this bill and recommend a ‘do pass’ vote. Thank you for

your time.
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There are several instances for which we as legislators have included language
in the ND Century Code authorizing minors to consent for health care services.
Those services include the examination, care and treatment for alcoholism,
drug abuse and sexually transmitted diseases, as well as emergency medical
services. These are situations in which the public policy is to encourage young
people to access medical services, rather than discourage them from seeking

the appropriate help they need.

Senate Bill 2181 would recognize that this same kind.of situation arises often
with respect to a young person who finds herself pregnant and is not yet ready
to involve her parents — that as a matter of public policy we ought to encourage
that young person to seek appropriate prenatal care and other health care for
her and her unborn child. If a minor patient asks for confidential services,
physicians are ethically bound to encourage the minor to involve their parents.
More clarity is needed, however, on the legal environment for physicians and
other health professionals in working with young people who seek pregnancy-
related health care services for themselves and their unborn children.

| introduced Senate Bill 2181 at the request of a number of health care
organizations seeking this clarity, including the North Dakota Chapter of the
American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, the North Dakota OB-
GYN Society, the North Dakota Medical Association, and the North Dakota
Healthcare Association representing hospitals. Senate Bill 2181 would
authorize a minor to consent and contract for prenatal care and other
pregnancy-related care, but not abortion services which are covered by another

law, as well as identify difficult situations in which the physician or other heaith



Sen. Karen Krebsbach
professional may inform the minor’s parents or guardian even if the minor is not

ready to involve them. | introduced a similar bill last session which passed the
Senate almost unanimously but was defeated in the House. SB 2181 passed
the Senate by a vote of 46-0.

Senate Bill 2181 strikes an appropriate balance — a balance that recognizes the
need to encourage young people to seek the medical care they need for
themselves and their unborn child, as well as to encourage them to involve
their parents.

Thank you Representative Price and members of the Committee. There are
representatives of various organizations here to describe more fully the

rationale and scope of the bill, and answer questions you have.




Testimony on SB 2181
Senator Dick Dever

Madam Chair, members of the committee, for the record I am Dick Dever, Senator from
District 32 here in Bismarck.

When this bill was heard in the Senate, it was about minors getting the prenatal care that [
think you and I would agree is very important. There was no opposition to the bill.

When the newspaper article came out about the bill, it was about keeping secrets from
parents. Several people reacted, including friends of mine who asked me to come here
today and ask you to kill this bill.

I stand before you with my hat in my hand to say that I believe there is a problem and this
is a solution. If you have a better solution, or if you can make this bill a better solution, I
would encourage you to seek that out.

I would like to share with you four different conversations [ have had recently.

My daughter-in-law is an RN. For about three years, she worked in a NICU, first at
Meritcare in Fargo, and more recently at St. Alexius here in Bismarck. Following the
birth of my granddaughter, Michelle continues to work an occasional shift, and works
two days a week as a school nurse. My son, Justin, asked her if she sometimes deals with
babies whose grandparents denied the mother the ability to get prenatal care. She said
that she has not seen girls who were denied care, but that she sees babies of mothers who
did not get care because they were afraid to tell their parents. NICU, by the way, stands
for Neonatal Intensive Care Unit.

Some legislators have visited with me about the bill and what they would do if their
daughter was in a similar situation. Madam Chair, I can tell you what I did do. It was a
little over five years ago when Heather told me. You don’t really prepare yourself for
that moment. It is said that life is 10% what happens to you and 90% how you react to it.

There was no point at that time in being judgmental. I stayed calm and talked with her
about her future and the responsibilities that lay before her. She and her mother made an
appointment with a doctor and prenatal care began. Our granddaughter, Lily, was born
healthy on Heather’s eighteenth birthday.

I don’t see anything in this bill that would have changed that relationship.

It was interesting that in the week or two before and after the birth, there were social
workers visiting with Heather about different programs the government has in place. Her
response was, “It wasn’t the government’s fauit.”

She and Lily continued to live with us for the first three years of Lily’s life, and then
Heather got married. That’s what family is for.



After we became aware of Heather’s pregnancy, the biological father asked to meet with
me and his father. One of his first comments was, “] want you to know that I do not
intend to marry Heather at this time.” [ said, “I guarantee you that you are not going to
marry Heather at this time.”

He got a little irritated and he said, “If you interfere with my parental rights, I will sue
you for everything you’ve got!”

I said, “You know sometimes when people talk about their rights, I like to substitute the
word responsibility, and it’s interesting how often that fits.” It was one the last times we
saw him.

Some people would say this bill is about rights. I would submit that it is about
responsibilities. The question is how do teen mothers get the care they need when their
parents abdicate the responsibility to get it for them?

I visited with a High School guidance counselor a couple of weeks ago. He said that
when girls come to him and discuss their pregnancy, he always encourages them to tell
their parents. He offers to be with them when they do. He said that in every case they
do. I asked him if he would be able to tell the parents if the girl said no. He said that he
would be forbidden by confidentiality laws from telling the parents.

This bill is about getting girls in front of professionals who would facilitate a
conversation with the parents.

I would encourage your support of this bill or of a better solution if you know of one.

With that Madam Chair, I would be happy to respond to any questions.
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Madam Chairman Price and members of the Human Services Committee,

For the record my name is Shari Orser, an obstetrician-gynecologist. I am an employee of

Medcenter One Health Systems, but today I am testifying on my own behalf.

I believe this bill is vitally important. It offers confidentiality to assure that needed care is
given to the minor in those unfortunate circumstances where the minor may not be ready to
involve her parents or her parents do not necessarily have her best interests in mind. This is

especially important when young women are pregnant in order to assure the best possible

outcome for the newborn child and the mother.

In surveys minors and providers consistently identify concerns about lack of confidentiality
as a barrier to obtaining health care. Minors who are pregnant, have STD’s, abuse drugs and

alcohol, or have emotional problems may avoid seeking health care if they must inform their

parents,

Our best opportunity for optimal prégnancy outcomes is to begin prenatal care early.
Statistics from the State Department of Health indicate that on average 40% of teenage
mothers start prenatal visits late (statistics attached). Many minors do not present for
prenatal care until the mid-to-late s.econd trimester, often when they can no longer conceal

the pregnancy from their parents. This significantly delays the opportunity for treatment with



o

folic acid, providing iron for anemia, counseling about healthy diet, discussion of other high
risk behaviors such as smoking, alcohol and drug use, early treatment of STD’s and
identification of other risk factors for poor outcome. Some minors do not even come in until
they are already in labor and have not received any prenatal care. In either situétion, the

health of both the mother and child is put in jeopardy.

Accessing care late in a pregnancy is a risk factor for early delivery and babies that are born
too early, result in 60% of infant morbidity and mortality. The cost of one day in our NICU
(Neonatal Intensive Care Unit) is substantial. If minors are assured of confidentiality they
will feel able to seek health care earlier in the pregnancy and would improve pregnancy
outcomes as well as potentially limit the risks and eliminate the cost of additional treatment

for complications.

When minors know their confidentiality will be respected, they will be able to develop a
relationship of trust with the health care provider and in turn the health care provider will be

able to encourage the minor to seek parental involvement or facilitate discussions with the

minor and the parent if needed.

We would like to believe that all parents are loving and have only their child’s best interest at

heart, but the sad truth is that that is not always the case.

I am aware of a situation in which a parent refused to consent to an epidural for her 16-year-

old daughter. She felt that since her child got herself into the situation, she deserved to



- endure the pain of labor. This bill would enable the minor and her physician to determine the

| . best course of treatment and prevent this sort of abuse of parental authority. In some cases

parental involvement is just not to a minors benefit,

I believe this bill is important to the health and well-being of young mothers and their

children and would urge you to support SB 2181 with a “Do Pass” recommendation,

Thank you for the opportunity to testify today. I would be happy to answer any questions

you may have.
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Madam Chairman Price and Committee members, I’'m Bruce Levi
representing the North Dakota Medical Association. NDMA is the
professional membership organization for North Dakota’s physicians,
residents and medical students. With me today is Dr. Shari Orser. Dr.
Orser has been actively involved in the North Dakota OB-GYN
Society and also serves as the President of the North Dakota Medical
Association. Dr. Orser will testify on her own behalf as an
obstetrician-gynecologist here in Bismarck.

The North Dakota Medical Association strongly supports SB 2181, as
do a number of other physician professional organizations including
the ND Section of the American College of Obstetricians and
Gynecologists, the ND Academy of Pediatrics, and the ND Academy
of Family Physicians. | was also requested to note support on behalf
of other organizations, including the North Dakota Healthcare

Association, the North Dakota Nurses Association, and the North
Dakota Counseling Association.

As a member of the medical profession, a physician is required to
recognize responsibility to patients first and foremost. Standards of
conduct adopted as Principles of Medical Ethics by the American
Medical Association prescribe that physicians be dedicated to
providing competent medical care, with compassion and respect for
human dignity and rights; that physicians respect the law and
recognize a responsibility to seek changes in those laws that are
contrary to the best interests of the patient; that physicians safeguard
patient confidences and privacy within the constraints of the law; and
that physicians support access to medical care for all people.

SB 2181 is about fulfilling these ethical imperatives by creating an
appropriate legal environment for providing access by a pregnant
minor to prenatal care and other pregnancy care that ensures the best
possible outcome for her unborn child, when that pregnant minor is
not yet ready to involve her parents or guardian.

SB 2181 follows a principled approach that strikes a proper balance
between ensuring access of the minor mother and her unborn child to
the health care they need, and supporting the appropriate role of
parents to be involved in and direct the health care provided to their
children.




Under current North Dakota law [NDCC 23-12-13], if a pregnant minor seeks
confidential prenatal care from a physician or other health professional, that care
may not be provided without the consent of the minor’s parent or guardian. As
such, physicians face a real problem when a pregnant minor in crisis comes
seeking health care, but is not yet ready or willing to tell her parents. A physician
can encourage her to involve her parents, and is ethically bound to encourage the
minor to do so, but she may still refuse. Under current law, physicians have only
one option — they must refuse to provide her the prenatal care or other pregnancy
care she and her unborn child need, and send her on her way.

Ironically, the law provides that once the child is born, the minor has the capacity
to make health care decisions for her newborn child, no matter the minor’s age.

When confidentiality is a barrier to a pregnant minor seeking care, the health
consequences can be significant as the pregnant minor may not seek appropriate
prenatal care for herself and her unborn child:

Pregnant teens are the least likely to of all age groups to get early and
regular health care and are at greater risk of complications such as
premature labor, anemia, and hypertension. Like many adults, a pregnant
teenager often has poor eating habits; she may diet, neglect to take a daily
prenatal vitamin, or smoke and take drugs — further increasing the risk of
having a low-birthweight infant (less than 5 %2 1b) or one born with other
health problems. A low-birthweight infant is 20 times more likely than one
of normal weight to die in the first year of life. Contemporary OB/GYN,
May 2006.

SB 2181 is about creating an appropriate legal environment for physicians to
address this situation. It is akin to efforts made in the past by the Legislative
Assembly to address other difficult situations involving young children —-
situations that require some form of intervention to protect the life and health of
the child. For example, the “Baby Moses” law adopted in 2001 {[NDCC 50-25.1-
15] allows the parent of an infant child to abandon that child at a hospital in an
unharmed condition. While none of us would condone a parent abandoning their
child, these situations were occurring and the Legislative Assembly agreed there
was a need for an alternative to parents abandoning children in unsafe places. That
environment was created to protect the infant child. SB 2181 is designed to protect
the unborn child.

For over thirty years in North Dakota, our statutes have recognized the ability of
minors to make some health care decisions without the consent of a parent or
guardian:

e NDCC Section 14-10-17: Examination, care, and treatment for sexually
transmitted disease, alcoholism, or drug abuse of minors age fourteen and older

2



o NDCC Section 14-10-17.1: Examination, care, or treatment in a life-
threatening situation invelving any minor

The first law was enacted in 1971 to allow minors to contract and consent for care
for venereal disease. In 1973, the law was expanded to drug abuse. And in 1977,
the law was made to apply to alcoholism and emergency care.

The motivation behind these laws, then in the 1970s and now in SB 2181, is to
create an environment that assures that minors receive the care they need — even if,
for whatever reason, the minor is not ready or unable to involve his or her parents.

SB 2181 would follow the lead of at least thirty-four other states in providing
statutory authority for a physician or other health care professional to rely on the
consent of a minor for pregnancy-related health care. SB 2181 is actually a hybrid
of statutes from Minnesota and Montana, and copies of those statutes are attached.

In summary, SB 2181 would authorize a minor to consent and contract for
medical, mental, and other healthcare services to determine the presence of or to
treat pregnancy and conditions associated with pregnancy. The bill does not
authorize a minor to consent to abortion. A physician or other healthcare
professional would not be compelled against their best judgment to treat a minor
based on the minor’s own consent. The bill also recognizes the ethical imperative
for physicians that they encourage the minor to involve her parents or guardian.

The bill recognizes that the pregnant minor’s decisions cannot threaten her own
health or the health and life of the unborn child. A physician or other healthcare
professional would be authorized under the bill to inform the minor’s parents or
guardian about any health care services given or needed after discussion with the
minor, if (1) failure to inform the parent or guardian would seriously jeopardize
the health of the minor, (2) major surgery or prolonged hospitalization is needed,
or (3) informing the parent or guardian would benefit the minor's physical and
mental health.

Medical ethics require that when a young person comes to a physician asking for
confidential medical care, physicians should encourage that young person to
involve his or her parents or guardian. The American Medical Association Code of
Medical Ethics addresses the issue of confidential care for minors, and a copy of
the ethics opinion is included as an attachment to my written testimony.

If a minor who is hesitant to involve her parents at the beginning of her pregnancy
is assured of confidentiality she will feel able to seek health care earlier in her




pregnancy to improve pregnancy outcomes, as well as potentially limit the risks
and eliminate the cost of additional treatment for complications. At the same time,
physicians can encourage the pregnant minor to involve her parents. This includes
making efforts to obtain the minor’s reasons for not involving her parents and
correcting misconceptions that may be motivating her objections.

SB 2181 encourages pregnant minors who are not ready to involve their parents to
choose childbirth and not seek an abortion, which a pregnant minor can now seek
without parental consent through juvenile court. For pregnant minors, without SB
2181, abortion could become the path of least resistance. Statistics from the ND
Department of Health indicate that 182 children were born from a minor parent in
2005. In that same year, 36 minors aborted their unborn child.

The purpose of the bill is not to diminish the role of parents in raising their
children. The bill does not say that physicians are to rely solely on the consent of a
minor in every situation involving a request for pregnancy-related care. In most
instances the parents of the minor are in fact involved and acting in the best
interests of their child and her unborn child.

In conclusion, concern about confidentiality is often a major obstacle to the
delivery of health care to minors. Access to confidential services is often essential,
" because many minors will not seek care for themselves or their unborn child if
they are not ready to inform a parent or have their parents’ consent. These laws
encourage young people to seek the health care services they need and enable
them to talk candidly with their physician or other health professional. They help
build a relationship — a relationship in most cases that works in favor of, not
against, involving parents.

A brief review of the bill follows:

Subsection 1: The language in subsection 1 provides authorization for a minor to
consent for pregnancy-related services, as derived from Minnesota law [Minn,
Stat. 144.343]. Subsection 1 uses the Minnesota terminology “medical, mental, or
other health services to determine the presence of or to treat pregnancy and
conditions associated with pregnancy” in describing the services to which a minor
may consent. The consent of no other person is required. The authorization does
not include abortion services, which are governed by the state’s Abortion Control
Act [NDCC 14-02.1]. The Abortion Control Act provides for specific consent and
notification requirements that would not be affected by this legislation.




Subsection 2: The first sentence in subsection 2 is derived from the American
Medical Association Code of Medical Ethics (E-5.055). That language recognizes
that as a general proposition if a minor requests confidential services to determine
the presence of or to treat pregnancy and conditions associated with pregnancy,
the minor should be encouraged to involve her parents or guardian. The
subsection also states specifically that a physician can not be compelled against
their best judgment to treat a minor based on the minor’s own consent. That
language in subsection 2 is derived from Montana law [Mont. Code Ann. 41-1-
407]. This provision provides the necessary medical discretion to allow the
physician or other health professional to work within the ethical guidelines that
address confidential care for minors, considering such factors as the maturity of
the minor and the circumstances surrounding the minor’s request for confidential
medical care.

Subsection 3: The language in subsection 3 authorizes disclosure to parents or
guardian under certain circumstances deemed appropriate in the physician’s or
other health professional’s judgment, but only if the physician or other health care
professional discusses with the minor the reasons for informing the parent or
guardian before the disclosure. This prior discussion requirement is consistent
with the AMA Ethics Code. The circumstances that may result in disclosure to the
parent or guardian include:

- Failure to inform the parent or guardian would seriously jeopardize the health
of the minor (serious jeopardy standard recognized in AMA Ethics Code,
Minnesota and Montana);

- Major surgery or prolonged hospitalization is needed (Mont. Code Ann. 41-1-
403); or

- Informing the parent or guardian would benefit the minor's physical and mental
health (Mont. Code Ann. 41-1-403).

NDMA urges you to support SB 2181 with a “Do Pass” recommendation.
I will attempt to answer any questions you have. Dr. Orser has prepared testimony

and can answer your questions from her experience in providing medical care to
pregnant minors.




E-5.055 Confidential Care for Minors

AMA Code of Medical Ethics

Physicians who treat minors have an ethical duty to promote the autonomy of
minor patients by involving them in the medical decision-making process to a
degree commensurate with their abilities. When minors request confidential
services, physicians should encourage them to involve their parents. This includes
making efforts to obtain the minor’s reasons for not involving their parents and
correcting misconceptions that may be motivating their objections.

Where the law does not require otherwise, physicians should permit a competent
minor to consent to medical care and should not notify parents without the
patient’s consent. Depending on the seriousness of the decision, competence may
be evaluated by physicians for most minors. When necessary, experts in
adolescent medicine or child psychological development should be consulted. Use
of the courts for competence determinations should be made only as a last resort.

When an immature minor requests contraceptive services, pregnancy-related care
(including pregnancy testing, prenatal and postnatal care, and delivery services),
or treatment for sexually transmitted disease, drug and alcohol abuse, or mental
illness, physicians must recognize that requiring parental involvement may be
counterproductive to the health of the patient. Physicians should encourage
parental involvement in these situations. However, if the minor continues to
object, his or her wishes ordinarily should be respected. If the physician is
uncomfortable with providing services without parental involvement, and
alternative confidential services are available, the minor may be referred to those
services. In cases when the physician believes that without parental involvement
and guidance, the minor will face a serious health threat, and there is reason to
believe that the parents will be helpful and understanding, disclosing the problem
to the parents is ethically justified. When the physician does breach confidentiality
to the parents, he or she must discuss the reasons for the breach with the minor
prior to the disclosure.

For minors who are mature enough to be unaccompanied by their parents for their
examination, confidentiality of information disclosed during an exam, interview,
or in counseling should be maintained. Such information may be disclosed to
parents when the patient consents to disclosure. Confidentiality may be justifiably
breached in situations for which confidentiality for adults may be breached,
according to Opinion 5.05, "Confidentiality." In addition, confidentiality for
immature minors may be ethically breached when necessary to enable the parent
to make an informed decision about treatment for the minor or when such a breach
18 necessary to avert serious harm to the minor. (IV) Issued June 1994 based on
the report "Confidential Care for Minors," adopted June 1992; Updated June 1996.
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144.343 PREGNANCY, VENEREAL DISEASE, ALCOHOL OR DRUG ABUSE,
ABORTION.

Subdivision . Minor's consent valid. Any minor may give effective consent for medical, /
mental and other health services to determine the presence of or to treat pregnancy and conditions
associated therewith, venereal disease, alcohol and other drug abuse, and the consent of no other
person is required.

Subd. 2. Notification concerning abortion. Notwithstanding the provisions of section
13.02, subdivision 8, no abortion operation shall be performed upon an unemancipated minor
or upon a woman for whom a guardian has been appointed pursuant to sections 524.5-101 to
524.5-502 because of a finding of incapacity, until at least 48 hours after written notice of the
pending operation has been delivered in the manner specified in subdivisions 2 to 4.

(a) The notice shall be addressed to the parent at the usual place of abode of the parent and

,;ered personally to the parent by the physician or an agent.

lieu of the delivery required by clause (a), notice shall be made by certified mail

dressed to the parent at the usual place of abode of the parent with return receipt requested and
restricted delivery to the addressee which means postal employee can only deliver the mail to the
authorized addressee. Time of delivery shall be deemed to occur at 12 o'clock noon on the next
day on which regular mail delivery takes place, subsequent to mailing.

Subd. 3. Parent, abortion; definitions. For purposes of this section, "parent” means both
parents of the pregnant woman if they are both living, one parent of the pregnant woman if only
one is living or if the second one cannot be located through reasonably diligent effort, or the
guardian or conservator if the pregnant woman has one.

For purposes of this section, "abortion" means the use of any means to terminate the
pregnancy of a woman known to be pregnant with knowledge that the termination with those
means will, with reasonable likelihood, cause the death of the fetus and "fetus" means any
individual human organism from fertilization until birth.

Subd. 4. Limitations. No notice shall be required under this section if:

(a) The attending physician certifies in the pregnant woman's medical record that the
abortion is necessary to prevent the woman's death and there is insufficient time to provide the
required notice; or
(b) The abortion is authorized in writing by the person or persons who are entitled to
notice; or
(c) The pregnant minor woman declares that she is a victim of sexual abuse, neglect, or
ical abuse as defined in section 626.556. Notice of that declaration shall be made to the
Q-n authorities as provided in section 626.556, subdivision 3.
ubd. 5. Penalty. Performance of an abortion in violation of this section shall be a

http://ros.leg.mn/bin/getpub.php?pubtype=STAT_CHAP_SEC&year=current&section=144.343&image.x=...
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. Montana Code Annotated 2005
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41-1-402. Validity of consent of minor for health services. (1) This part does not limit the right of an emancipated
minor to consent to the provision of health services or to control access to protected health care information under
applicable law.

(2) The consent to the provision of health services and to control access to protected health care information by a
health care facility or to the performance of health services by a health professional may be given by a minor who
professes or is found to meet any of the following descriptions:

(a) a minor who professes to be or to have been married or to have had a child or graduated from high school;

(b) a minor who professes to be or is found to be separated from the minor's parent, parents, or legal guardian for
whatever reason and is providing self-support by whatever means;

(c) a minor who professes or is found to be pregnant or afflicted with any reportable communicable disease,
including a sexually transmitted disease, or drug and substance abuse, including alcohol. This self-consent applies only
to the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of those conditions specified in this subsection. The self-consent in the case
of pregnancy, a sexually transmitted disease, or drug and substance abuse also obliges the health professional, if the
health professional accepts the responsibility for treatment, to counsel the minor or to refer the minor to another health
professional for counseling.

(d) a minor who needs emergency care, including transfusions, without which the minor's health will be jeopardized.

ergency care is rendered, the parent, parents, or legal guardian must be informed as soon as practical except under
.cumstances mentioned in this subsection (2).
) A minor who has had a child may give effective consent to health service for the child.

(4) A minor may give consent for health care for the minor's spouse if the spouse is unable to give consent by reason

of physical or mental incapacity.

4

History: En. Sec. 1, Ch. 189, L. 1969; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 312, L. 1974; amd. Sec. 23, Ch. 100, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, §9-6101; amd. Sec.
14, Ch. 440, L. 1989; amd. Sec. 188, Ch. 42, L. 1997; amd. Sec. 2, Ch. 396, L. 2003.
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41-1-403. Release of information by health professional. (1) Except with regard to an emancipated minér, a
health professional may inform the parent, custodian, or guardian of a minor in the circumstances enumerated in 41-1-
402 of any treatment given or needed when: S

(a) in the judgment of the health professional, severe complications are present or anticipated,;

{b) major surgery or prolonged hospitalization is needed;

{c) failure to inform the parent, parents, or legal guardian would seriously jeopardize the safety and health of the
minor patient, younger siblings, or the public;

(d) informing them would benefit the minor's physical and mental health and family harmony; or

(e) the health professional or health care facility providing treatment desires a third-party commitment to pay for
services rendered or to be rendered.

(2) Notification or disclosure to the parent, parents, or legal guardian by the health professional may not constitute
libel or slander, a violation of the right of privacy, a violation of the rule of privileged communication, or any other
legal basis of liability. If the minor is found not to be pregnant or not afflicted with a sexually transmitted disease or not
suffering from drug abuse or substance abuse, including alcohol, then information with respect to any appointment,
examination, test, or other health procedure may not be given to the parent, parents, or legal guardian, if they have not
already been informed as permitted in this part, without the consent of the minor.

’tory: En. Sec. 2, Ch. 189, L. 1969; amd. Sec. 2, Ch. 312, L. 1974; R.C.M. 1947, 63-6102; amd. Sec. 15, Ch. 440, L. 1989; amd. Sec. 3,
6, L. 2003, -
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surgeon, dentist, or health or mental healthi care facility may be compelled against their best judgment to treat a minor
on his own consent.

(2) Nothing contained in this section shall be construed to relieve any physician, surgeon, dentist, or health or
mental health care facility from liability for negligence in the diagnosis and treatment rendered such minor.

(3) In any case arising under the provisions of 41-1-406, the physician or licensed psychologist who provides the
psychiatric or psychological counseling services shall incur no civil or criminal liability by reason of having provided
the counseling services, but such immunity shall not apply to any negligent acts or omissions.

41-1-407. Immunity and responsibility of psychologist, physician, or health care facility. (1) No physician, \/
\

History: (1), (2)En. Sec. 5, Ch, 189, L. 1969; amd. Sec. 5, Ch. 312, L. 1974, Sec. 63-6105, R.C.M. 1947, (3)En. Sec. 2, Ch. 315, L. 1971;
Sec. 69-6107, R.C.M. 1947; R.C.M. 1947, 69-6105, 69-6107.
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Chairman Price and members of the Human Services Committee,

My name is Audrey Cleary and I am here this morning to testify on SB 2181 because I
am concerned about the loss of confidentiality that may happen if this bill is not passed.
I do not see it as taking away the rights of the parents.

For 25 years I was a volunteer for Birthright, an organization of volunteers who

‘ helped young women who were faced with an unplanned pregnancy. We assured them
that they could trust us to be confidential. Always we encouraged them to ;ell their
parents Eut that was something they had to do. Unfortunately, often theﬂf are not ready to
do that for several months.

The Bismarck Birthﬁght 1s no longer available but there are other pregnancy care
centers that may be compromised because young women will be afraid to take advantage
of their services. These young women should be able to have some early prenatal care.
'i‘his is ifnportant for the young woman and for her unbdrn child.

In a perfect world, every young woman would be able to talk to her parents, especially
her mother, if she should become pregnant. Unfortunately, not every young woman has

that kind of relationship with her parents. We cannot legislate that. It is up to parents to

teach sexuality and the risks associated with being sexually active and to encourage their
children to come to them when they have problems.
I would hope that doctors would provide these initial services “free of charge™.

Please vote YES for SB 2181. Thank you.
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Madame Chairman, and members of the House Human Services Committee, thank you
for hearing my testimony.

I am Tom Freier, and I represent the North Dakota FamilyAlliance.

I am here to stand in opposition of SB 2181. The bill removes the parent’s right and
obligation to guide the medical care of their minor daughter in a period of pregnancy
crisis.

While the intentions of SB 2181 may be well meaning, I believe the effect may be just
the opposite. By removing parental involvement in the medical care of a minor, it only
causes a greater communication problem. It condones circumvention of that parental
involvement, and replaces it with that of non parental adults in the medical profession.
This model is in direct contradiction of a healthy family unit. The eventual
responsibility, obligation, and decision making rest with the parents, and should not be
removed or diminished.

It appears this bill is taking a minority of the cases and trying to craft a law to not only

deal with those, but all parents and all minors. By presumption, all parents do not need to

be notified. Instead of dealing with the lack of communication, it is endorsing it. It is, in |
fact, providing as an option to those minors who have a good relationship with their ‘
parents, the option to withhold information from their parents.

The North Dakota FamilyAlliance believes in the family. While not every family is ‘
perfect, it is still the best environment for these issues to be discussed. As unfortunate as

this situation may be, and as uncomfortable as the discussion may seem, the long term

opportunities for a strengthened relationship are great.

This bill does not offer a solution to the problem. It does not improve the relationship
between the minor and parents and may well lead to a greater deteoration of that
relationship. In fact, if our concern is for the emotional and physical well being of our
minors, we need to strengthen parental involvement.

We ask the committee to place Do Not Pass on SB 2181,

311 E THAYER #127 » BISMARCK, ND 58501 » PHONE: 701-223-3575
Fax: 701-223-3578  WWW NDFA.ORG ® ADMIN@NDFA.ORG
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Concerned Women for America of North Dakota stands in opposition to
SB 2181.

A. The intent of SB 2181 is not clear. From conversations with the
sponsors of this bill [ have gathered that prenatal care of a minor’s unborn
child is the intent of SB 2181. In the testimony of the sponsors of SB 2181,
given to the Senate Human Services Committee, we find the words
“prenatal” and “unborn child”, however these phrases are not used nor
addressed in this bill. The only issue addressed in this bill is consent of a
minor for medical care in cases of pregnancy. Why is prenatal and postnatal
care not addressed directly in SB 21817 This legislation opens wide the
door for medical treatment of a minor who may be pregnant but never even
mentions the care of the unborn child. The second intent of SB 2181 is
stated to be clarification for the medical community as it relates to a minor
and the possibility of a pregnancy. However, again, it does not give any
clarification other than that the consent for treatment comes only from the
minor herself and states that the medical personnel may “encourage” the
minor to notify parents or guardians. There is no requirement here that
parents be involved in this decision-making process; the bill says “may
encourage” not “shall”.

B. Does the care for the life of the unborn supersede the God- given
authority of a parent over a minor? CWA fully supports the value of the
life of all unborn children, and we believe that they should receive the

most excellent care the medical community can provide in order for the
unborn child to be born healthy. However, there is NO reason that this
cannot be accomplished with the full consent and involvement of the parents
and/or guardian of a pregnant minor. There are always going to be “hard
cases” where a minor does not have responsible parenta! supervision or
instances where a minor makes unwise decisions. Can these few cases
justify a broad sweeping law set in place that removes parental authority
trom all parents and that allows for the exploitation and exposure of a minor
to treatment and values that may conflict with parental authority and rights?

CONCERNED WOMEN FOR AMERICA
or NORTH DAKOTA

PO Box 213, Park River, ND 58270
Phene: (701) 331-0046 E-mail: director@noerthdaketa cwfa.org
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C. The guestion that remains after reviewing SB 2181 is again the intent of
the bill. If pre and postnatal care are the concerns, then let us see a
bill introduced that addresses those issues. As the State Director of CWA,
representing more than 1000 members in ND and also as a parent, I cannot
abdicate my God-given responsibtlity and authority over my children, nor do
[ think it is right of this body of lawmakers to do so for the parents of ND. |
do not think it is wise nor should it be lawful to allow a minor to be exposed
to unknown courses of medical treatment, be it due to pregnancy or any
other medically-related conditions. It occurs to me, after more than 20 years
of working with teen pregnancies that the medical consent laws are treated
very differently when related to pregnancy than to all other medical issues
. that may face a minor. This should not be the case.

[ applaud and respect the lawmakers and the medical professionals who have
the well being of the minor and her unborn child at the heart of this debate.
CWA of ND ask that you would not step over the rights of ND parents in
order to accomplish this, but write a bill that respects both the unborn, the
minor and her parents and/or guardians. Do not let hard cases cause us to
establish bad laws.

Janne Myrdal
State Director, CWA of ND.

CONCERNED WOMEN FOR AMERICA
OF NORTH DAKOTA

PO Box 213, Park River, NI 58270
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Testimony to the House Human Services Committee
Submitted by W.M. Schuh on March 13, 2007

. Hounorable Members of the House Human Services Committee

PLEASE VOTE DO NOT PASS ON SB 2181
Senate bill 2181, addressing medical care for teen pregnancy, i1s one of the most dangerous and
destructive bills for the family, and for the rights of parents to guide the development of their children
that this legislature had considered in many years.

® The language of this bill strips parcnts of their authority to guide the medical care of their
minor daughters in a period of pregnancy crisis,

® Ostensibly it is a measure to circumvent decisions of “bad” parents. But it has no objective way of
determining what a “had parent” is.

In reality its’ power grant strips ALL parents of the authority for decisions concerning their
child’s medical care in a key crisis situation and turns it OVer to non parental adults in the medica]
profession. [n doing so it utterly destroys the meaning of “minority” under a parent or legal guardian.
While stripping power from parents, the bill is laced with patronizing and meaningless statements
regarding parental “involvement” which have no legal significance, no compelling standard, no penalty
and no power. They only serve as fluff to disguise the power transfer.

. ® The power kernel of the bill is in Section 1.1, which states that:

A minor may provide consent and contract for and receive medical, mental, and other health care
services to determine the presence of or to treat pregnancy and conditions associated with pregnancy,
and the consent of no other person is required,

® A minor. Any minor! can provide their own consent for medical care without any parental
control, consent or guidance, or even consultation whatsoever! The parents, ALL, PARENTS ,
both good and bad, are totally out of the loop.

There is no age limit. Your 16-year old, 14-year old, 12-year old daughter...need not tell their
parents. They can provide their own consent for medical care and totally circumvent parents!

e According to this language, the children can “contract” on their own! Since when can a
minor engage a contract without parental permission? Where else can they do so?

® There is no fiscal note. The Parents and their insurance will be billed. Yet, they are not
consulted concerning their own minor children.

L Under SB 2181 an irresponsible unemancipated minors can legally contract for their

parents. Parents have no right to know what is going on with their own minor daughter, no right to have

a say on the course of care, no authority whatsoever! Only the obligation to be saddled with the invoice.
( . SB 2181 utterly destroys the meaning of legal guardianship,

1




L All language related te parental power or involvement is meaningless finff.

SB 2181 states: “fthe minor should be encouraged to involve her parents or guardian.”

wshould be” means the medical service is not obligated. “Encouraged” means that the
child is not obligated. There is no requirement, no standard, and no penalty. In legal terms this 18
utterly meaningless! There is no obligation to the parent at all

SB 2181 states: “a physician or other health care professional or a health care facility may not he
compelled against its best judgment to treat a minor based on the minor’s own consent.”

Note that the health care provider is absolved of all responsibility to accept the “contract”. The
provider is thoroughly empowered and protected. Only the parent is stripped.

SB 2181 states: that the health care professional:

“ may inform the parent or guardian of the minor.... if the physician or other health care professional
discusses with the minor the reasons for informing...."

the word may has no legal force whatsoever. Therc is no legal requirement that they tell parents
anything. “if the physician or other health care professional discusses with the minor” means that
the child, not the parent, MUST be consulted.

SB 2181 states (The parent may be told if):

“in the judgment of the physician or other health care professional:

(a) Failure to inform the parent or guardian would seriously jeopardize the health of the minor,
(b) Major surgery or prolonged hospitalization is needed;

(c) Informing the parent or guardian would benefit the minor's physical and mental health.

“in the judgment” means that it is ENTIRELY up to the health care providers and what they
wants to reveal. They are not compelled by law or penalty to inform or consult the parent even if the
child is jeopardized, requires hospitalization, or if the the minors physical or mental health would be
served.

® SB 2181 teaches minors that parents are powerless.

o It sends a broad message to teens that all parents cannot be trusted and can be used and
manipulated.

® Those that would consult parents will not because of this bill. It lowers the bar.

e Those inclined to be promiscuous will know all about this before they are even sexually active.

Minors will know that their parents are not in control, that they are not legitimate
authorities, and that state law has said so.

o SB 2181 is 2 dangerous nail in coffin of the family.

o None of the claimed benefits justify the social problems that it will perpetrate.
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A BRIEF HISTORY OF PARENTAL DISEMPOWERMENT IN NORTH DAKOTA
W.M. Schuh

The Right to Guide Children

fundam

most suited to the protection of the child. In recent years this right is under constant attack.

The Typical Form of Attack on Parental Authority
(1) A social problem is defined by the wi

(2) A law or social system to solve that
parents are absent or incompetent is applied not

(3) Responsible parents are marginalize
control of their children.

Orst case scenario.

problem, and based on the assumption that
to the narrow case, but to al).

d and undercut and separated from substantive

Recent History
® (Late 1980s and early 1990s) The Carnegie Middle School (Turning Points) and Starting
Points which propose to guide the education of preschoolers in the home asserted that parents
were to be excluded from their private relationship with the child. For example, after proposing

that it is important that adolescents have another "non parent" adult to guide them, Turning
Points states that:

ns between advisors and students
¢¢ to pass along information they

"Parents. should understand that communicatio
are confidential and that advisors are not fr
receive from students."” (Turning Points, p68)

And after describing conditions for school-based health &are, Turning Points states that:

"Clinic staff members make it clear fro
shared with them will not be shared wit
may take an action harmful to himself
first." (Tumning Points p63).

m the very beginning that any information
h other adults, unless jt indicates a student
or herself, and then the student is informed

® (Early 1990s - Federal Education Law) Under Title IV, Sec. 1018 CONTRACEPTIVE
DEVICES of Goals 2000 it is stated that :

"The Department of Health and H
Education shall ensure that all federall
distribution of contracepiive devices to
lo encourage, to the extent practical, fa

uman Services and the Department of
y funded programs which provide for the
uncmancipated minors develop procedures
mily participation in such programs. "

Please observe that there js nothin

law only directs the school to try to bri
possible”,

g here about respecting parental values or wishes. The
ng the parent along with its viewpoint " as much-as

1

The right to exercise our obligations to raise, guide and protect our children is the most
ental right in any decent society. The natural. relationship between parent and child is



® In 1995 SB 2410 stated that any counselor could form a confidential relationship with a
child (without parental consent) and the parent could be told nothing without the consent of the
child. After initial amendment this bill allowed police and Health officials to be told. ONLY
PARENTS were excluded from knowing what was going on with their child. Ostensibly intended
to protect children in cases of sexual abuse, this broad bill was very similar to SB 2181 in that it
virtually destroyed parental authority and the privileged relationship of parent and child. It was
eventually modificd to apply only in abused adult resource centers. When thus limited to the
narrow case, it ceased to be a general problem for family integnty.

® In 1995 SB 2042 would have mandated and funded basic health services in schools (the
1995 school nurse bill proposed by the League of Women Voters). Michael Petit of the Child
Welfare League, who served as the State paid consultant in preparation for the bill described the
role of the school nurse as:

" think that relative to this question of teenage pregnancy there are really two
things. One is not getting pregnant at first. 1 think that some of these kids, they
need someone 1o talk to that can give the information about choices in their lives...
So | think that a school nurse in my mind should emerge as a person that is used as
a friendly source of information, both in terms of addressing sexuality of the
individual kid, and also in addressing the subject of contraceptives. I've said the C
word, and I'll say it again. At some point we have to recognize that there is a
causal relationship between tcenage pregnancy and teenage sex. (laughter ripples
through the room)”. League of Women Voters forum Bismarck, November, 1994,
transcribed from videotape).

SB 2042 was amended to forbid dispensing contraceptives in the school. This caveat
amendment was similar to the abertion caveat now in SB 2181. In a meeting of health and
education officials (observed and recorded by a mother) they were laughing about how the nurse
would circumvent this amendment by referring the students to District Health services for
contraceptives.

In testimony before the Senate Health Commitice then Senator Yokhim (sp?) asked one
of the recorded attendees directly if they had stated their intention of referring. She lied.

The bill failed, but contraceptives are being dispensed to minors at District Health
services without parental knowledge and consent.

® (Late 1990s and early 2000s) Opening of teen health clinics. Radio and tclevision
interviews constantly claim that “parents have to understand that we have a confidential
relationship with the adolescent.” In other words, the reproductive health, is scvered from the
parents and their guidance. The health provider is taking over.

® (Early 2000s) HIPPA is passed. Places walls of “privacy” within families - between
parents and children and between spouses. Says that parents have know right to know what is
2




going on.
® (2007) SB 2181 says parents not only have no right to know and guide. The children can
contract on their own and send them the bill.

Examples of the Consequences of Parental Marginalization
® At Park River High School in 1989, when two "guest speakers" (medical students)
brought a life-size erect crystal mode! of a penis into the classroom and demonstrated the fitting
of condoms for students. Parents were neither consulted nor notified. Guest speakers later
justified their actions to outraged parents by stating that they had "stressed abstinence" (Walsh
County Press, November 20, 1989).

® At Hazen High School in 1989, where a State Health Department speaker offered to help
the students set up secret accounts to obtain contraceptives without parental knowledge.
According to one student:

The speaker went on to tell us where various health clinics in the state are, and that these
clinics can help us to set up secret accounts so our paremts will not find out if we should
need treatment or supplies of any kind.... Then, pulling a silver dollar condom trom his
pocket ant treating sex as a toy, ... he threw the "coin’ (the joke condom) into our audience
saying that it should be used soon because they don't keep forever.” (Bismarck Tribune,
March 21 1989).

® Parents of a high school girl directed a dermatologist who was treating their daughter for
acne that they did not want their daughter to be given a contraceptive injection to use a drug
treatment for acne. The physician acknowledge their objection as though it would be followed.
When the daughter came home from treatment, she had been given the contraceptive injection
against the express directions of the parents. If the injection was required by label, the physician
should have resorted to a different treatment.

[ In Fargo a school counselor referred a minor girl and her etghteen-year-old boyfriend to a
reproductive clinic, without parental knowledge and consent. One year later, the girl was
pregnant and the boy was charged with having sex with a minor. The parents were left with the
mess. {Source is the attomey retained by the parents seeking legal regress).

® On March of 1996 all sixth-grade girls in J.T. Lambert School in Pocono, Pennsylvania
were forced to “partially undress, bend and compromise and submit to a genital examination by
medical staff in the school, without prior warning, without parental consent, and over the pleas
of the girls to be excused and to call their parents.

7 (World, August 17, 1996).

There have been plenty of examples of medical atrocities based on eugenics.

® An earlier example. In the 1930s some counties in southern states would forcibly remove
children deemed to be “uninteiligent” from their families, institutionalize them and forcibly
sterilize them.



Some Rules of Thumb for Legislation
1. All authorities are imperfect. A global transfer of power from parents to another authority
will only subject children to the imperfections of that new authority.

2. Legislation dealing with the parent-child relationship must be narrowly crafted to deal with
the specific abusive case, so as not to restrict or disempower all parents and destroy the family.

3. Improvements can be made with narrowly crafted legislation. No legislation will solve all
problems.

4. SB 2181 is not narrowly crafted. Itisa marginalizing bill in the worst sense.

Questions for Legislators

Do you want to live in a society wherein other non parental parties who may not share
your values, your knowledge of your children and their needs and personalities, and your comfort
zone with respect to risk can interfere personnally, psychologically, and medically with your
children and grand children without your permission or guidance? Even if you personally are
comfortable with SB 2181, what is the long-term ramification of this principle of allowed
interference with respect to your right as a parent to guide your own children? And where might
it lead in another case?



Testimony in opposition of Senate Bilt 2181

Tuesday, March 13, 2007
(Human Services Committee)

Madam Chair and members of this committee, my name is Becky Ness. T am nota
lobbyist; 1 am not a health care professional; but merely a concerned parent of this state,
When [ first heard about this bill and its passage in the Senate I have to tell you I was
totally shocked. That is when I began educating myself on the bill and what it all
entailed. Afier that, ] started to talk to parents, parents who are teachers, parents who
work in various medical fields, parents who stay at home, parents who are professionals.
When | told them about the bill, I continually heard the same response, “You’ve got to be
kidding me, this is not right. Why are our parental rights constantly being attacked and
trying to be taken away from us?” That is when I knew | was not the only parent
thinking this way.

While | agree that it is of utmost importance that girls should be seen at the earliest
possible time in their pregnancy for responsible prenatal care, I disagree that this bill will
fix the problem of young, minor girls currently not seeking early prenatal care. Second, |
believe that there is a greater problem looming in our society and until we, as a society,
are willing to step forth and say something about it, passage of this bill will only rip away
at the integrity of the family unit. For those who disagree, I would ask why in the bill,
does it give the girl choices, the doctor or medical facility choices and the parent
absolutely NO choices whatsoever? It completely removes the parent from the equation
and in an indirect manner makes a statement to the pregnant minor girl that she can make
a better decision without her parents, when clearly this is not true. In the few instances
where there is a bad relationship already between the girl and her parents, well | would
really have to wonder, even with the medical community “encouraging” the girl to tell
her parents, would she? And in these particular family situations a bill like this is likely
to only enrage the parents further when they find out their daughter is pregnant solely
because they received a bill from the doctor or medical facility who saw her.
Furthermore, when the parent tries to contact the facility to find out what they are being
billed for they will not be given information because of HIPPA laws, instead they will

just be expected to pay the bill and not ask questions.
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Instead of removing the parents from this equation, I ask this committee, the state of
North Dakota and society at large, “Why can’t we do better?” In an age where we
parents are constantly being told to talk to our kids about underage drinking and to not
use drugs, why aren’t parents ever encouraged to talk to our kids about sex? Why can’t
there be a cooperative effort between the medical industry, the education system and
parents to all work together to teach our kids about sex and its dangers. Many people
might laugh at this idea saying that some kids will choose to have sex anyway. Well, the
same can be said for kids drinking and doing drugs; however, as a society we don’t ever
give up on trying to educate our kids about the dangers of alcohol and drugs — so why is
sex any different? Can we all agree that kids have enough to worry about during their
teen years, whether or not they pass their math test, or make the cheerleading squad or
pass their driver’s test that they should be encouraged to abstain from sexual activity?
And as far as “safe-sex” goes, it simply 1s NOT safe. If it were, we would not be having
pregnant teens, we would not be seeing an increase in the numbers of HPV cases, and we
would not be seeing teens have abortions or in the event they decide to keep the baby, the
staggering number of single mothers having to raise these children without the baby’s
father. 1 ask you what part of pregnancy, HPV, abortion or single moms raising their kids
1s “SAFE™?

As a parent of two girls and a boy, I started at an early age to always be open and honest
with my children so that when they are older and start to have questions or concerns
about sex, drugs and/or alcohol they will feel like they can come to me or at least not be
embarrassed if | bring it up to them and we can communicate with one another what is
the best situation for them. It is my personal opinion, and the opinion of many other
parents that I spoke with, that this bill, if passed, would undermine all of the hard work
and communication that I've spent with my kids in that it would give them the “legal
right” to basically go behind their parent’s back. In a society where we have laws
restricting kids from getting tattoos, body piercing, and their driver’s licenses without the
consent of the parent, why then would we feel compelled to give away the parental
authority on such a serious matter as this.

I’ve come here today as a competent, willing, loving and responsible parent to tell you
that | take my job of parenting seriously and | beg you to not take this parental authority

away from me. Thank you.



Mr. Chairman, representatives. ..

Thank you for your time today. My name is Mike Motschenbacher. I am not here as a
lobbyist, I am not here representing a group, I am here as a concerned parent.

1* of all, I would like to compliment you on the job you have done and thank you for the
service you do for our state. It is greatly appreciated.

Today I am standing before you to request that you vote NO on this bill. I realize that the
bill has been written to help with the health of unborn children, which I have no problem
with. However, to pass a bill that completely strips parents of the rights to know what is
happening with their minor child is completely unacceptable.

I have testified before with success in front of your committee on bills that I think the
legislature should not be invelved in. This is another of those bills. This is an issue that
needs to be addressed at the family level and not at the state level. I know there are some
cases of upset parents, unnecessary punishment, and others but the bottom line is YOU
CANNOT CREATE A LAW TO PROTECT EVERYONE!

It is very unfortunate that we do have incidences that lead to the daughters not telling
their parents about an unwanted pregnancy. However, they are just that... incidences!
This has not become a problem at this point that needs to be addressed by the legislature.
The incidences are few and far between.

My other concern is where this will end. What will stop boys from coming in for
addiction treatment and not want to tell their parents about it. If you pass a bill like this,
you will find yourselves session after session having other groups being requested to be
added to this bill and in the long run, the parents will not know anything that their
children are doing.

Let’s do a positive thing this legislature and leave parenting to parents like it should be.

Thanks again for your time and I encourage you 1o vote No on this bill.
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Routine Prenatal Care

INSTITUTE FOR CLINICAL . " T s e e
SYSTEMS IMPROVEMENT reconception sit isit sit 3 sit 4
ST Event1 Viair2 6-8 weeks 10-12 weeks 16-18 weeks 22 weeka
y Screening Risk profiles # Risk protiles ¢ Weight 5 Welght 3 Welght 5
Tenth Edltlon B8 Maneuvers Height and weight/BMI5 | GC/Chlamydis 4 Blood preasure 6 Flood pressure & Biood pressure ¢
+ Blood presaurs § Helght and weight /FMI 3 Fetal heart tonies 27 Fetal heart tones 27 Fetal heart tones 27
History and physical 7 Blood pressure 6 Fewal mﬂ“&‘ddy Fetal lojdy Fundal height 29
Cholesterol & HDL 2 History and physical 7* servening wreening {Cervieal
Cervical cancer screendng 2 | Rubella 8 OB L d )
9 {optional) 2
Rubella/rubeols, # Varicela
Fundal height 2%
Varicelia 9 Domestic sbuwe 10 [ "
Domextic abuse 10 Hemoglobin 15 assesement 30|
ABO/ER/ Ab 16
Syphis 17
Urlne cultue 18
HIV 1
{Blood lead scresning 20)
vBAC2]]
Hepatitis 85 Ag 25
Counseling Preterma Iebor education and | Preterm labor education and | Preterm labos education | Preterm labor Preterin labor
entiom 11 etiom 11 and p 11 ducation and education and
prev: sl
Education Subgtance se 2 Prenaal & ety Proratal ke Ufestyls prevention 11 prevention 11
Interventon 2 education 22 education 2 Prenatal & lifestyle Prenatal & lifestyle
Nutrition & weight . sdral activil . Fetal education 2 education 22
Damestic abuge 1¢ Phyed aciivity growth
s Nutrion ¢ Review labs from = Physology of ® Classes
List of medications, herbal it prégrancy + Family luues
supplements, vitamins 12 * Waming dgns + Second trimester
Accurate o » Course of tare + Breastfreding growth + Length of stay
menstrual dates » Phydology of pregrancy{ * ;“Y"“W of * Qulckening * G“u]hm:'“l
+ Follow-up of modifisble | * Follov-up of Ilitug 32
dik factors Pl modifisble itk {GoM)
Discuss fetal aneuploldy factors fartors Followup of
screening modiflab|
factors
= [RhoGam 16]
Immunization [ Tetams booster 3 Tetant booster 3 [Progestercne 31)
Rubella/MMR & Nutritional supplemenss 24
Chemoprophylaxis [ (vardcena/vzIGS) Influenza 26
Hepatitis B Vaccine 723 [Varicella/vZIG 9]
Folle acid supplemaent 14
Visit5 Visit 6 Visit7 Visit 8-11
Event 28 weeks 32 weeks 36 weeks 38-41 weeks
Screening Preterm labor risk 4 Weight 5 Weight 5 Weight S
Maneuvers Welght 5 Bloed pressure 6 Blood pressure 6 Blood pressure
Blood pressure & Fetal heant tones 27 TFetal heart tones 27 Tetal heart tanes 27
Fetal heart tones 27 Fundal height 23 Funda! helght 29 Fundal height 29
Fundal helght 29 Cervix exam M Cervix exam 34
[Cervica! assessment 30] Confirm fetal position 35
Gestational diabetes melllhas Cultuze for grwp B
(CDMm)y &2 streptococaus 35
Domestlc abuse 10
[Rh antbody status 16)
[Hepadtis B Ag 25]
[GC/ Chlamydia 4]
: Preterm labor education and Preterm labor Prenatal & lifestyle Prenatal & lifestyle
Cg:;::;iﬁg:‘g prevention 11 educatlon “ﬁ’ educatlon 22 education 22 v
Int t Prenatal & lifestyle education 22 | PrEvention * Postpartum care * Pstpartum
ntervention Prenatal & lifestyle toms
* Work education 22 * Management of late
+ Physlology of pregnancy . l pregnancy symploms * Infant CFR
P Travel * Contraception = Post-term
* Preregistration + Seaunll
+ Fetal growth ality * When to call p I
[l + Pediatric care « Discusslon of * Tollow-up of
‘ }‘:‘}tlz:-up modiflable risk + Episiotomy postpartum depression Lsb m"d‘;ﬁ:h risk {actom
+ TFollow-up of * Follow-up of modifiable | L2DOF & delivery update
Awareness of fetal movement 33 modiflable sk ors
factors
Labor & Delivery lssues
Waming
signs/ pregnancy=-
cedmypenr-;\ém
[VBAC 21)
Immunization [ {ABO/Rh/Ab16)
& [RhoGAM 16]
Chemoprophylaxis

Numbers refer to specific annotations.
[Bracketed] items refer to high risk groups only.

* ltisacceptable for the history and physical and laboratory tests listed under Visit 1 to be deferred to Visit
2 with the agreement of both the patient and the provider.
** Should also include all subjects listed for the preconception visit if none occurred. .
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